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PREFACE

This is the fifth volume of the series known as Robertson’s Landmarks of
Toronto, a collection of 2,927 printed pages in book form giving a detailed
record of the city’s life since it started its career in 1792 with a population of
six or eight Mississaga Indians, who camped on the bay front close by the
site now occupied by the Union Station The collection also comprises nearly
1,200 engravings. -

The wide-spread interest in the early life of Toronto is attested by the
reception accorded to the previous volumes of Landmarks. The first volume
is no longer obtainable, and there are less than a hundred unsold copies of the
succeeding three volumes.

This publication is the first attempt ever made to give in such extensive
form a history of any Canadian city, and were it not that the type from which
the volumes are printed was first nsed in the columns of the Toronto Evening
Telegram, it would be absolutely impossible to give the volumes at the price
at which they are now offered.

While diligent search has been made among countless manuseript in the
libraries of the Dominion, and especially of Ontario, the larger part of the in-
formation found in the Landmarks comes from the lips of pioneers, many of
whom have passed away, and many of whom were in the yellow leaf when
twenty years ago I made my first notes for this collection.

It is sometimes asked why the chapters of the Landmarks are not chrono-
logically more continuous. The reply to this query is simply that these
Landmarks had to be written and published as the information came to hand,
and as each chapter is a complete story in itself there was no necessity for
chronological continuity.

Of course it would be better if the series had opened and had been con-
tinued as a year-in-and-year-out history of York and Toronto from the day that
the harbor was first surveyed and the plot of the original town laid out. But
to do so would have been simply impossible, for the matter in each chapter
came to hand at various times, yes, at long intervals in the twenty-five years
that have passed since the first Landmark appeared in the columns of The
Evening Telegram.

This is shown by the publication of one chapter concerning the history of
the city in 1805, Chapter CVI, Vol. V. The manuscript on which this chapter
was based was not discovered by me till 1908, and there are scores of other
slmilar finds written up under exactly the same conditions.

Should some future historian have the courage to write a continuous story
of the city, to tell the story of the pioneer Town of York from 1792, and of
Toronto from 1834, he will assuredly not lack for material, The series of
Landmarks now reaches its fifth volume, but there remain many records of
the city’s early life that it would require at least as many volumes more to
complete. In my collection of engravings of Toronto there are at least three

- hundred which have not yet been written up.

3

-
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While I claim accuracy for the subject matter of the Landmarks, yet I
freely admit that there may be many errors in compilation, and for that reason

3 |
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I hope that at some not distant day these volumes may be revised and printed
in better form than at present.

This volume is one of the most interesting of the series. The find of the
early maps and plans of the city, of the Old Fort and of the city front, give a
better idea of York and Toronto in its early days than any manuscript docu-
ments that have so far come to light.

The discovery of these drawings is in the main due to the excelient work
of that prince of librarians and collectors, Dr. Arthur G. Doughty, the archivist
of the Dominion. To his effort is due the magnificent collection in the Archives
Department, Ottawa, while the find of many of the local plans and manusecripts
is due to the untiring energy of Dr. James Bain of the Toronto Public
Library. His knowiedge of the early history of the city afforded by the
veluminous collection of early records, which with dogged perseverance he
has accumulated, has added much not only to the interest of this volume, but
to the preceding volumes of the Landmarks.

This volume is commended not only to those whe possess the preceding
volumes, but to new readers, who, it is to be hoped, wiil be interested in the
history of the city of their habitation and business, a city, which, in a very few
years, will probably be, as far as population and resources are concerned, the
leading eity of not only the province of Ontario, but of the Dominion of Canada.

WGMA‘MW
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VOLUME V.

CHAPTER L
YACHTS OF A CENTURY.

Old Time Sailors—An Interesting
Article on Some of the Yachts and
Yachtsmen of Sixty Years Ago.

For over a century have thore been
yachts on Lake Ontario. It is only
since 1850 or thereabouts, however, that
the white wings have been very num-
erous upon the blue waters. The Duke
of Rochefoucault de Lizncourt, writing
of the marine of Lake Ontario in 1795,
mentions “a small yacht of eighty tons,
mounting six guns.” She was probab-
ly only a revenue cntter. No particu-
lars are given about ber, other than
that she was attached to the fleet at
Kingston.

In the Upper Canada Gazette of
Sept. 14, 1799, the following announce-
ment appears:—“The Toronto Yacht,
Captain Baker, will, in the course of a
few days. be ready to make her first
trip. She is one of the handsomest
vessels of her size that ever swamupon
the Ontario. and if we are permitted to
judge from her appearance, and to do
her justice, we must say she bids fair
to he one of the swiltest sailing ves-
sels. She is admirably well calculated
for the exception of passengers, and
can with proprietry boast of the most
experienced officers and men. Her
master-builder is a Mr. Denison, an
American, on whom she reflects much
credit.”

What the Toronto Yucht was like or
where she was built, we are not told.
She is frequently mentioned in the Ga-
zette. On Saturday, May 17, 1800, we
are told of ghe arrival of “his Excel-
lency Peter Hunter, Esq., Lieut.-Gov-
ernor and Commander-in-€hief of the
province, in the Toronto.” She is men-
tioned in a similar connection several
times afterwards. On October 1l1th,

1806, we learn that Governor Gore
crossed from York to Niagara, in the
Toronto Yacht presumably, in four
hours, a smart passage for a sailing
vessel even to-day. The Toronto Yacht
went ashore on the lsland sandbar
early in the summer of 1812, and her
frames remained protruding from the
sand for many years. She was com~
manded successively by Capt. Baker,
Capt. Barl and Capt. Fish.

On June 7, 1828, the Loyalist men-
tions another yacht. * His Majesty’s
schooner Cockburn, bearing-the broad
pennon of Commodore Barrie, entered
this port on Monday -last. The yacht
Bullfrog was in company with the
Cockburn.” No description of the
Bullfrog is given. In October, 1828, the
arrival of Sir Peregrine Maitland in
the Bullfrog is noted. She appears te
have been a vessel used for the samse
purposes as the Toronto yacht.

“The Bullfrog. yard boat, of about
60 toms, nearly new and completely
rigged, and well furnished in every
respect,” is advertised for sale in 1834,
among an extensive assortment of
naval stores.

In the Toronto Courier, of May 28,
1836, the following advertisement ap-
pears: “The well known Government
built cutter, Bullfrog, about 40 tons
burthen, with all her running and
standing rigging complete, and in good
sailing order, will be sold very low
for cash or approved endorsed notes
for half the purchase money. For par-
ticulars apply to Burke & O’Neil, To-
ronto.”

This cutter may or may not have

n “ the Bullfrog yard boat, of about
60 tons burthen,” before referred to.
In the public sale of naval stores.at
Kingston dockyard, June 27, 1836, “the
Cockburn schooner, 70 tons, paid off
in 1834, with her masts and spars; also
the Bullfrog, tender of 60 tons, with
her sails and rigging tn stere,” are of-
fered for sale.
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Besides the Toronto and the Bull-
frog there was at least one other
yacht around Toronto, or rather York,
in the early * thirties.” This was the
Dart, a small cutter-rigged craft,
owned by the Hon. John Elmsley, R.N.
The York Sapper and Miner, of October
25, 1832, has the following advertise-
ment: *“For sale, the fast sailing cut-
ter Dart, 22 1-2 tops burden, with or
without rigging, sails and other fur-
niture. For particulars enquire of the
Hon. John Elmsley.”

The Dart was one of the smartest
boats of her day, and was built at
York by a Mr. Purkis.

Breeze—C. Heath.
Belle—C. Gildersleeve, Kingston.
Navie—Messrs. Etirick and Arm-

strong.
: Prima Donna—S. Munro, J. Hamil-
on.
Glance—G. Oliver, Cobourg; G. Hawke,
Toronto.
Water Lily—Commeodore Durie.
Arrow—Mr. Wallace, of Cobourg.
Wideawake—J. Elliott, Cobourg; R.
Standley.
Ripple—Messrs. Jones and Blake.

Foam—Mr. Greepe, Mr. Armstrong.
Sea Gull—J. H Maingay, Hamilton.

Ranavata Monjaca—E. Blake.

Mr. Wm. Armstrong, a well known
local artist, who has been identified
with the Royal Canadian Yacht Club
from the beginning, furnishes the fol-
lowing list of yachts. It goes back as
far as 1850, and extends as far as the
time of the well known White Wings:

Iroquots—Captain Strachan, Major
Magrath.

Canada (1)—George Cruikshank, Ald.
Sherwood.

Hochelaga—Captain Delateur.

Norah Creina-—Major Magrath.

Cherokee—Dr. Hodder.

Emerald—Sir H. Daliymple and offi-
Eers of the Tlst Highland Light Infan-
Ty.

Wave—J. T. Robertson.
Kestrel—J. H. G. Hagarty.
Fairy—T. Begley, J. T. Robertson.

Rivel—Messrs. Dickson, Hamilton,
Elmsley et al.

Geraldine—Dr. Hodder.

Coral—J. Matthews.

Sea Gull—Wyatt and Dodge.

Breeze—Dr. Hodder.

Saginaw—A. Cambise.

Mackinaw 3A—W. Armstrong.

Gorilla—Capt. Gifford, Cobourg; R-
Standley.

Foam—Anderson Brothers.

Sphinx—Mr. Sampson, Mr. Morgan

a—George Eadie.

Canada (2)—Mr. Carpenter.
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Ina—T. McGaw, Col. Shaw.

Annis—Col. Shaw.

Alarm—Col. Grasett.

Escape—Capt. Murray, F. A. Turner.

Oriole (1)—J. Leys, G. Gooderham.

Countess of Dufferin—Syndicate.

Iris—Mr. Read.

Mad Cap—Commodore A. R. Boswell.

Cygnet—T. McGaw.

Atalanta—Mr. Ayres, Brighton.

White Wings—Aemilius Jarvis.

Of the yachts mentioned in the list
many are scaroely now even a mem-
ory. The first Canada was of 25 tons
burden, and, at the time of the Prince
of Wales’ visit to Canada, was the larg-
est yacht in the fleet of the Canadian

winner, was built at Cobourg in 1862,
and rebuilt ten years later. She won
the Prince of Wales’ Cup in 1862, 1853,
1864 and in 1872. The schooner yacht
Ripple was another famous cup winner.
She was built in 1865 for Mr. E. Blake,
and carried off the Prince of Wales’
Cup twice in succession, She was
broken up in 1870. The Prince of
Wales’ Cuap was wrested from her in
186¢ by the schooner Geraldine, a
yacht owned by the late Dr. E.

Hodder, at one time commodore of the
Royal Canadian Yacht Club. She was
of 28 tons burden, and was a familiar
figure in Toronto harbour for fifteen

years or more., Cherokee was another

Yeeht Club, the present R. C. Y. C.
The Sea Gull, Arrow and Rivet were
of 17 tons or so. Commodore Durie’s
Water Lily and J. T. Robertson’s Dart
were two or three tons smaller. Prima
Donna and Glance came under the sec-
ond elass of the club—ten tons and un-
der. Prima Donna won fame for herself
m the regatta of October 2, 1858, when
she defeated Wave and the rest of the
fleet, with 8 minutes and 24 seconds
to spare. The Wideawake was a little
four-tonmer, built on the Genessce for
J. Elliott, of Cobourg. She won

sailed in 1861, The Gorilla, a 28-ton

- 8loop, another Prince of Wales Cup

Oriole sy

yacht owned by Dr. Hodder.

She was
one of the Canadian Yacht Club’s
craft when the club was organized.
She passed into the hands of Mr. C.
H. Sampson in 1872. A third yacht
owned by Dr. Hodder was the unfor-
tunate sloon Breeze, that was lost off
the mouth of the Humber River.

The sloop Mosquito of 12 tons bur-
den. was among the crack yachts of
Toronto in 1869, and woa the Prince
of Wales’ Cup that year. The trophy
was won by a 15-ton cutter named
the Ida, owned by Mr. George Eadie,
in 1870.

The little Mad Cap is a yacht that
will dwell long in the memory of locat
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Corinthians. She was the property of l rigged, but was somewhat smaller than
Commodore A. R. Boswell, and won the | the present Oriole. She was first own-
Prince of Wales’ Cup in 1880. ed by Mr. W. C. Campbell, who raced

Of the Toronto yachts that found a | her with great success in the seasons
cradle in the bottom of the lake, per- | of 1874 and 1875. In both years she
haps the best known is the old sloop  won the Prince of Wales Cup race,
Foam. She was owned by the Ander-  over the Niagara course. Brunette won
son brothers, in the seventies. In afthis trophy in 1876, but for the next
squall off the mouth of the Niagara ' three years in succession the trophy
River she went down with all hands. went to the Oriole. She was then
Sphinx, another sloop, shared the same | owned by Mr. J. Leys, and others. She
fate some years later. | was purchased by Mr. George Gooder=-

Y, ¢

e

N

AR

NG

boTbe name of the yacht Oriole is a :ham, and was broken up in 1886, after
usehold wo'rd in Toronto, and Mr. ia very successful.eareer. She was
G. Gooderham’s magnificent racing and | gucceeded by the present grand

cruising schooner is a very familiar "
figure in the harbour. Sheyis R T schooner yacht of the same name. The

cond schooner to bear the name she | (8t Oriole had few rivals as a racer,
honours. The first Oriole was built in | Put when Mr. W. G. Gooderham’s cut-
Toronto in 1873, from the designs of | ter Aileen was brought out her days
Mr. Carey Smith. She was schooner | were numbered.
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The following list of the club fleet in
1855 is furnished by Mr. Armstrong:

Albacore—Mr. Stow.

Prima Donna—S. Munro.

Osprey—Mr. Green.

Challenge—J. Arnold.

Lone Star—Mr. Pardy.

Rosa—J. Cameron.

Jenny Lind—S. Sherwood.

Ariel—Mr. Reid.

Odin—J. Price.

Fairy—Kivas Tully.

Undine—J. Ewart.

Coralie—J. Ethrick.

Storm Queen—Jones Bros.

Saginaw—. Cambie.

Every yachisman in Canada has
heard of ths famous White Wings, the
Cuthbert sloop that has, since 1893,
been doing duty as a stone-hooker. At
the present time there is little about

Mr. Jarvis sold the White Wings to
a Hamilton syndicat:, compocsed of
Messrs  Lester, Birley, Chambrook,
Townsend, et al. She was raced with
varying sucecess up to 1891, when she
was again sold. She over-run her an-
chor, in th: autumn of 1892, when at-
tempting to bring up in very shallow
water near Wilson, N.Y. She was taken
to Port Credit for repairs, and shortly
efterwards was hought by Captain L.
Nash, who took th» topmast out of her,
reduced the size of her big cabin trunk
and sailed her in the stone trade, be-
¢ ming the envy of all the stone-hook-
er captains on the lake.

it wps impossible to capsize the
White Wings, but this very nearly hap-
p:ned on one occasion. She was coming
ld(\-wn the lake with everything set,

when a heavy squall struck her when
She lay over

abreast of Humber Bay.

VoL

bher dingy black hull, with its batter-
ed rail and dumpy little cabin trunk,
to indicate the famous racer. Yet a
second glance at the easy sheer, long,
sharp entrance and clean run, as well
as the cut of the patched mainsaii and
staysail and jib, comprising the hook-
er’'s entire spread of canvas, will show
that she has seen better days.
White Wings was built by Cuth-
bert in 1886 for a Mr. Cooley, of
Tranton. She was 42.83 ft. on the
water line, and of 45.74 feet racing

length. Sh: was raced at Belleville'!
and Oswego, and showed good speed, !

but failed to take first place. Mr. Ae-
milins Jarvis, commodore of the Royal
Canadian Yacht Club, hought her in
1887, and sold her in the spring of 18%9.

- It was under his ownership that sh-!
won the White Wings Cup, at Put In |
~ Bay regatta, a trcphy that was sub-
- sequently presented to the Homilton

Yacht Club for perpetual competition.

SRR
wmas. Sﬁ-mjw-:’uﬂ.

on her beams’ ends, and the frighten-
ed crew promptly scrambled into the
dinghy and cast off. KEre they reached
shore the White Wings righted. The
crew pulled towards her, and, like a

| gportive colt, she payed off and ran
i away from them, faster than they
could possibly row. After she had

Jjibed two or three times, and the weary
mariners were almost dead with row-
| ing, they caught up to her and clam-
i bered aboard, exhausted but extreme-
' ly thankful.

The first Canadian vessel, as well
as the last schooner yacht, to challenge
i for the America’s Cup, was the Coun-
'tess of Dufferin. She was built at
|

Cobourg by Alexander Cuthbert, a
| famous designer of yachts of the old
centreboard type. She was owned by a
syndicate composed of various lake
yachtsmen. Culonel Gifford, Mr. Fred-
erick Lucas, of Hamilton, and Majer
i Torrance were among the members.
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The Countess of Dufferin was launched
at Cobourg in the spring of 1876. E£he
was 101 feet on the waterline, 23 feet
7 inches beam, and drew 7 feet 3
inches, without her centreboard. She
received her name in honour of the
wife of the then Governor-Genmeral of
Canada.

The big schooner (she was one of the
la yachts on the lakes) went down
to New York by way of the St. Law-
rence river and Halifax, arriving at
New York after a twenty-day voyage
from Quebec, during which her new
canvass stretched and became so

baggy that a fresh suit was orderl?.d.
g |

She was intended to sail with a

tario. 6She sailed saveral matches here,
and was defeated by the first Oriole.
In the spring of 1878 she was sold to
Captain Prenderville, of the Chicago
Yacht Club, and taken by him up to
Lake Michigan. She later passed inte
the hands of Mr. W. Borden and Mr.
Philpot, of Chicago, and, upon the de-
cline of the Chicago Yacht Club, as
scuttled and sunk outside of Chicago
breakwater.

Canada furnished two challengers for
the “Blue Ribbom of the Ocean,” the
America’s Cup. The second challenger
was the centreboard sloop Atalanta,
designed and built by the famous Alex-
ander Cuthbert, of Bellaville. She was

square sail on the foremast, but the
rule of the New York Yacht Club for-
bade this.

The vessel selected to defend the
America Cup was the schooner Made-
line. She defeated the Canadian 1n
two successive races, on August 11, and
August 12. The Countess of Dufferin
proved the smarter by the wind, but
her light sails were not handled with
anything like the promptness of her
rival. The original America sailed
over the course with the comyetitors,
and proved herseif a better bo:t than
the Canadian.

After her failure to capture the
coveted trophy the Countess of Duf-
ferin was brought back to Lake On-

78 feel over all, 68 feet l.w.L, 19 feet
6 inches beam, a 6 feet 5 inches
draught. She cost $2,100. Her bal-
last was made of iron ore and stone,
packed under her ceiling as well as
possible. The Atalanta went down to
| New York by way of the Erie Canal,
land reached salt water after comsider-
able difficulty, on October 3lst, 18R1.
| The races for the famous trophy were
| sailed in the second week of November.
Atalanta was handicapped by her bal-
| last of iron and stone, instead of lead
| casting, and by her lack of crew, the
| men promised by the Belleville Yacht
' Club failing to arrive. In the first
? race with Mischief Atalanta was beaten
| by 28 minutes. She lost 40 minutes
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in reefing. In the second race
made a mistake as to the position ot
a buoy, and Mischief again won, set-
tling the ownership of the cup for 1831

Atalanta performed so well, handi-
capped as she was, that it was intend- |
od to sail for the America Cup next !
year, but the New York Yacht Club |
passed resolutions restricting Am- .
erica Cup matches to yachts built on |
salt water, and the lake yachtsmen’s'
hopes were blighted. !

The big sloop was brought back to

she ’

country and raced, at first by Mesars.
Dickson and Hamilton, and later by
Mr. Hutcheson and Mr. Henderson and
Messrs. E. and S. Blake. The Ravet
was bought in 1862 by Mr. Remy
Elmsley, who owned and sailed her for
eighteen years. He sold her in 1880.
Mr. H. Blake, captain of the Toronto
Yacht Club, became her owner. In 1890
the Rivet went out of commission and
was taken up to Hamilton, where she
is at present owned. She has not done
much sailing of late. 0

y

Lake Ontario, and played a prominent |
part in the races of the next ten years, '
She was found to be oversparred, and
her mainmast was shortened by eight
fest. She was especially fast in light
winds. She was finally sold to some :
Chicago yachtsmen.

One of the best known yachts around
Toronto, and one which still (1899) sur-
vives, is the iron cutter Rivet. She
was of 17 tons measurement and 40
feet 1. w. 1., and was built in England
in 1855, and was brought out to this

N

The Rivet was remarkable for her
speed in beavy weather and the vast
amount of head-reaching she would
do, owing to the way she carried.

Rivet was sailed in the regatta of
September 11, 1860, in honour of the
Prince of Wales' visit to Toronto, by
E. and S. Blake. The race was to
Mimico, in a fresh breeze and heavy
sea. Rivet and Arrow were the only
ones to finish in their class, and the
iron cutter’s windjamming qualities
brought her in a winner, with fifteen



8

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

minutes to spave. This resulted in the
presentation of the Prince of Wales’
challenge cup to the Royal Canadian
Cacht Club in 1861.

Ano'her well-remembered yacht is the
Alarm, a 40-ton vessel, built at Goder-
ich in 1875 and bought by Lieut.-Col.
Grasett, now Chief of Police, two years
later. The Alarm was rigged as a
gchooner when owned by Mr. Hayes,
of Seaforth, but when she was brought
to Toronto she was changed to a yawl,
and subsequently raced under a cut-
ter rig. She was intended for a cruiser,
>nd when sh- passed into the hands of
Lieut.-Col. Grasstt and Messrs. Fis-;

CHAPTER II
TWO OLD FLAGS.

An Old Time Political Incident—Wm.
Lyon Mackenzie and the Provincial
Parliament—Marshall S. Bidwell.

It is a loag cry from 1832 to this
year of grace 1904, and few, if any,
people are now alive whn remember
with any degree of distinctness the
stirring political events which took
place both in Cinada and Great Bri-
tain in the {ormer year. With these

Rivel

kin and Anderson, who a.lso had an

interest in her, she was lengthened;
and handsomely re-fitted throughout.
She took part in a great many of the |
Royal Canadian Yacht Club races, and, .
when heeled to a certain angle and |
in smooth water, would develop re- |
markable speed. Otherwise she was |
comparatively slow. She created a
great semsation once by leading the
whole fleet in a cruising race to Nia-
gara, when it was expected that she
would be one of the last boats to
finish The Alarm was sold and broken !
up in the latter part of the eighties.

events, as well as with the still more
troublou: period—for Canada at least
—of 1837-38, the history of the two
flags is indissolubly connected.

In the Parlimentary session of
1831, William Lyocn Mackenzie, whowas
repres ntative for the town of York
(Toronto), was by a vote of the House
expelled there’rom, in consequence of
att cts made by him in his paper, the
Colonial Advocte, on the Government

'of the day. These attacks were con-

sidered false and libellous and all but
treasonable by a majority of the As-
sembly, and their zuthor, who never
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atlempted to discl im his responsibil-
ity, was expelled from the House, only
te be re-elected thereto by a great
majority.

‘The expulsion of Mr. Mack.nzie from
the House was, however, far from
unanimous. Mr. Marshall S Bidwell,
member for Lennox and Addington,
not only speaking most strongly
agiinst the proposal, but, with the
courage of his copinions, voting against
it aico. Mr. Bidwell was in fact, for
the time being the leader of the Op-
position, and in some sens: o popular
hero.

Mr. Bidwell was u barrister by pro-
fession. resiling at 38 Lot street (now

Executive Council, were sent unopened
to Sir Fran:is Bond-Head, the Lieu-
t-nant-Governor. On receiving these
letters Sir Framcis sent for Mr. Bid-
wel and made the fo'lowing proposi-
tion to him. Addressing Mr. Bidwell,
he said: “You must be aware that you
are regarded here with much sus-
picion as one disloyal to the Queen’s
Government, and that consequently
your position in society must hence-
forth be anything but comfortable to
your feelings:; here are a number of

" letters addressed to you, as you per-

Queen street), Toronto, and was held |
by many people in very high esteem. |

The spirit of discontent which was
voice 1 by Mackenzie in 1831-32 did not
subsile bul grew year by year, until
the gencral election of 1836, when
Mackenzic was defeated at the polls
by a substantial majority. Marshall
S. Biiwell, at this time, though well
Eno~n to be in accord in opinion with
the adv:ncel Reformers had to a great
e:tent retired from political life, and

‘as devoting himself to the duties of
his profession. Another year passed hy;
Kine William IV. died; Queen Victoria
came to the throne; »nd still the
grievances under
groaned were not smeliorated, nor did
there appear any probability of such
a course of policy being adopted by
the Government as would allay the
prevailing discontént. Then came the
appeil to arms by Mackenzie and his
fo'lowers in December,

which Canadians

ceive, with the seals unbroken; will
you receive these letters unopened and
voluntarily quit the country for ever,
or stay and submit to have them ex-
amined, taking t he chance of what they
may reveal? To satisfy you that it is
not by the Government alone that you
are presumed to le disloyal, look at
this flag.” Sir Francis here produced
the flag. Mr. Bidwell gave the Lieu=
temant-Governor a long explanation of
his conduct, the purport of which was
to prove the impessibility that he could
have had anything to do with the re-
bel'ious proceedings which culminated
at Gallows Hill. These remarks were
heard with attention and courtesy, and
on their conclusion the Lieutenant.-
Governor agan gave Mr. Ridwel! the
alternative of leaving the country for
ever or to submit the letters to a

' gerutiny. The former course was the

1837. and their ;

total defeat at the skirmish (for it

was no more) at Gallows Hill.

Montgomery’'s tavern on
street, the headquarters of the rebel
force, was, as is well kmown, burnt
to the grount by orders of Sir Francis
Bond-Head, while among the various
things confiscated which had been in
the possession of the rebels were the
two flags. When Sir Francis Head was
recal'ed after the Rebellion by the
Im - rial Government, he tcok these
relics with him to England and they
were not unearthed until 1897, when
a relative of his found them and
cansed them to be displayed as objects
of interest at a banquet given to colo-
nial representatives in London, Eng-
land.

Once more to return to Mr. Bidwell.
The day after the engagement at
Gallotve Hill a packet of letters ar-
rived at the Toronto post-office ad-
dressed to Marshall S. Bidwell, which,
in accordance with orders from the

| tact. Mr. Bidwell then
Yonge .

|
|

one chosen, and Mr. Bidwell was then
informed by the Lieutenant-Governor
that he, Mr. Bidweli, must send in a
letter announcing his determination to
quit the country for ever, when his
packet should be delivered to him in-

left Govern-
ment House shortly afterwards send-
inc the following letter to Sir Francis
Head, on the receipt of which his packet
was reiurned to him.

The letter read as follows:—
Toronto, December 8th, 1837.

Sir,—In consequence of the kind con-
versation of your Excellency this moin-
ing I have determined to leave this
province forever.

I am aware that the circumstances
to which your Excellency alluded are
calculated to give rise to suspicions
against me in 1elation to this insur-
rection, and while they would bHe like-
ly to render my furthec residence in
this province unpleasant, they make
your Excellency’s kindness the more
:vo({thy of my deep and lasting grati-
ude.

I am confident at the same time that
the investigation which will now of
course, be made., will fully remove
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these suspicions from your Excellency’s
mind, and will prove that no such &i-
tempt was in contemplation.
I have, etc.,
MARSHALL S. BIDWELL.
His Exeellency, Sir Francis Bond Head.
Commenting on this incident the Pa-
triot newspaper of April 16th, 1838,
remarkeds—“There is no law to pre.
vent Mr. Bidwell from returning to
this province, nor any obstacles but
his own voluntary pledge.” It may
have, technically speaking, been a “voi-
untary pledge,” but to most peopia
it will look very much like “there
being no compulsion, ladies and gen-
tlemen, only you must.”
It may be meniioned that in a let-

elg describing the affair at Gallows
Hill says: “The rebels having been
deprived of their flag, on which was
inscribed in large letters, ‘Bidwell
and the glorious manority,” 1837 and
a good beginning,” the militia advanced
in pursuit of the rebels about four
miles.”

There is little or no doubt that Mr.
Bidwell was right and the Lieutenant-
Governor wrong, and the great danger
of circnmstantial evidence is once more
exemplified, for the flag, it appears,
had been at Montgomery’s tavern since
January 1st, 1832, on which day Wil-
liam Lyon Mackenzie was re-elected to
the Legislative Ass>mbly after being
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ter dated February 15, 1838, from Mr.
J. Joseph, Clerk, to the Executive Coun-
cil, addressed to the treasurer of the
Incorporated Law Society of Upper
Canada, this account of the interview !
between Sir Francis Bond-Head and:
Mri Bidwell is confirmed in every de- |
tail.

Regarding this flag, or these flags,
Mr. Bidwell himself said of the one
that it had been got up for an elec-
tioneering purpose and not in connec-
tion with the insurrection.

The Lieutenant-Governor evidently
entertained a very different opinion
to that of Mr. Bidwell, for he, Sir Fran-
cis Head. in his despatch to Lord Glexn-

expelled. The words “Bidwell and the
glorious manority (minority)”’ referrad
to the part taken by Mr. Bidwell and
the minority ot the Assembly in oppos-
ing Mackenzie's expulsion. The fol-
lowing paragraph from the Toronto
Guardian of January 4th, 1832, refers to
this flag: “A procession was formed
to escort Mr. Mackenzie to the town.
Ife was placed on the second story
(sic) of an immense sleigh, belonging
to Mr. Montgomery, which was drawn
by four horses, and carried between
twenty and thirty men and two or
three Secotch musicians. One of the
most singular curiosities of the day
was a littls printing press placed on
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one of the sleighs, and, warmed by a
furnace, on which a couple of boys con-
tinued while moving through the
streets, to strike off their New Year’s
address and throw it to the people.
Over the press was hoisted a crimson
flag with the motto, ‘The Liberty of
the Press.” The mottoes of the other
flags were ‘King William IV., and Re-
form,’ ‘Bidwell and the Glorious Minox-
ity, 1832, a good beginning.’ Here
the whole mystery is explained about
the flag and about its being at Mont-
gomery’s. Some of the rebels during
their two or three days’ rendezvous
there had changed the figure 2 into
a 7.11

There is not the least doubt that
the statement of the Guardian is cor-
rect, and that so far as the flag was
concerned, it in the first place had
nothing to do with the rebels or their
plans. None of the actors in this
particular political drama are now
alive, but a glance at this incident,
scarcely hitherto known in connection
with the history of the rebellion. will
not be without interest.

CHAPTER III
NORTH YORK MILITIA.

A Regimental Retu; for 1838—List of
Officers, Where They Came From,
and Who They Were.

So much interest is now being taken
in the Canadian militia that a retro-
spect of the past, so that it may be
ocompared with the present, will
probably prove of considerable in-
terest to many. By the courtesy of
Mr. John Small, of this citg, a “Field
Return” of the 4th Regiment of
North York militia assembled on
parade at Richmond Hill, in the town-
ship of Vaughan, in the county of
York, on June 4th, 1838, has been hand-

There were ten companies eom-
prising the battalion, the stroagest
of these being No. 4, with two officers,
two sergeants and 105 privates. The
weakest was No. 10, with two ser-
geants and but 4 men. The limits
from which the corps was drawn was
the whole of the township of
Vaughan.

The names of the commissioned of-
ficers were :—

Ool., C. C. Small, city of Toronto.

Lieut.-Col., John Arnold, Vaughan.

Major, John Miles, Vaughan.

Captaing, D. Bridgford, F. Boyd, both
of Vaughan; Robert Baldwin, city of
Toronto; Benjamin Thorne, James Farr,
A. Lawrende, all of Vaughan; E. Gold-
smith, city of Toronto; Geo. Stegman,
Charles E. Lawrence and Larratt
Smith, also all of Vaughan.

Lieuterants, James Sinclair, Robert
Burr, Larratt Smith, jr., D. Cameron,
R. D. Bridgford, John Boyd, Miles
Langstaff, Richard Hutchinson and
Thomas Cook. All of these, with the
exception of Larratt Smith, jr., city
of Toronto, were returned as being of
Vaughan.

Ensigns, John Arnold, Jochn Demp-
sey, George Beardmore, Peter Vande-
brugh, Horace Wilcox, J. R. Gowan
and John S. Bridgford. Of these John
Dempsey and J. R. Gowan were from
Toronto, the remainder were, like the
great majority of the other offirers,
from Vaughan.

Adjyutant-Captain, J. Bell, Toronto.

Surgeomn, James McCuaig, York.

In the column set apart in this re-

turn for “Remarks,” it is stated
“Captain L. Smith, ILieut. Barwick,
Ensigns Peck and Smellie have re-
signed, rather declined, accepting
commissions.”

It is hard to suppress amusement
when one learns from the “return of

ed to The Evening Telegram. The ! arms and accoutrements” that the
numbers were as follows:— corps possessed thirty-one ‘English
LLegtenant-»Colonel ....................... 1{ muskets’ and 500 rounds of ammuni-
PRSI o e T e 5 1 tion only!
Captains...... 7 Another memorandum attached to
Lleqtenants.. ........... ] . 9 this old document is that there were
b e SRR (e e i S AT 8 “within the limits of the Regiment”
Adjutant...... 1 24 Menonists and 19 Tunkers “ex-
STl SR L S S 1 emptad from militia duty.” It is
Sex_'geams R PR ST 20  only fair to add that “miﬂtia duty”
IBBIRAEOR. ... voive cerieess P e e 653 | consisted in assembling at the head-
— quarters of the oo?s once a year,
- . 701 ' namely on June 4th, George IIIL. birth~
Absent with leave.... e weee w. 19 ' day. Later this date was changed to
Absent without leave...... wvosss semeeeee D - May 24th and so remained until the
—— Sedentary Militia became a matter of
725 history.
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A few words can be said respecting
some of the officers. The colonel, C.
C. Small, was a sou of Major Small,
who was clerk of the first Execu-
tive Council of the Province of Upper
Canada, during the regime of Govern-
or Simcoe. Colonel Small resided at
Berkeley House on King street east,
where he died March 17th, 1864.

Major John Arnoid belonged to a
well known family who settled in the
County of York in the very earliest
days.

Captain Francis Boyd, was father of
the late Judge Boyd of this eity.

Captain Robert Baldwin, was one of
the well-known Toronto family, he re-
sided on Bay street.

Captain Thorne, was a member of
Thorne & Parsons, tanners, of Thorn-
hill. Captain Lawrence afterwards
became colonel in command of the
regiment and Captain Goldsmith was
a well-known official of the Bank of
Upper Canada. Captain Stegman’s
family after his death came to reside
in Toronto, where there still live
many representatives.

Among the other officers, Lt. Ro=
land Burr was a well-known dealer
in and maker of mill stones. John
Boyd, was the late judge who lived
in Toronto for so many years and

died here in 1897. John Dempsey was
also a well-known Toronto man; he
was eubsequently a member of the
firm of Dempsey & Blevins. Later
he was elerk at Osgoode Hall. J. R.
Gowan was father of Mr. Gowan, of
the firm of Small, Gowan & Strathy.
Captain and adjutant John Bell was

a well-known Toronto lawyer. His ;
house was on the eastern side Ofl
i

Church street between Adelaide and
* Queen street east.
Of all the officers whose nomes have |
been given there is now (1903) only
one survivor. He is Larratt Smit,
who despite his advancing years is
still hearty. hale and vigorous.

! quired a
- decided to adopt “The Golden Lion” as

peared from the south side of King
street east in 1901,

This old familiar friend, this “well-
kn wn spot,” was the “Golden Lion”
dry-gocds establishmant, for so many
years associated with the Walker
family,

Years ago the younger generation
of Toronto thought that “ men might
come and men might go,” nevertheless
the “ Golden Lion ” would still “ go on
forever.”

Alas, the changes that arise in this
werld ! The Golden Lion is a thing
of the past. Toronto knows it no
more.

The business afterwards known as
the Golden Lion was founded by
Robert Walker in conjunction with
Thomas Hutchinson in 1835, in a
small store situated on the site now
occupied by the Nordheimer Music
Company. This business firm wadg
then known under the styl» of Walker
& Hutchinson. Mr. Hutchinson was a
brether-in-law of the senior member
of the firm and the business was carri-
ed cn by thiem under their joint names
until 1853, when the partnership was
dissslved.

In the latter part of the year 1848,
or possibly even in 1849, Messrs. Walk-
er & Hutchinson, who had then aec-
very substantial business,

their trade-mark and placed over their
front door a massive gilt figur: of a
lion carved out of wood, which figure
remained in its position, “in storm and
wind, in rain and hail,” until 1836,
when it was replaced by a stome lion,
which, however, was not gilt.

The (cld original) golden lion, when
supplanted by the stone one, was re-
moved from th: front of the premises
and placed over the prineipal door
leading to ths shipping department of
the Walker firm situated on Colborne
street. There too it remained until
the building was dismantled, and then
“ vanity of vanities, all is vanity,” it

. was taken down and was found to be

;in such a state of utter decay that

CHAPTER IV,
THE GOLDEN LION.

An Oid Familiar Place of Buziness —
Once the Resort of All Country Buy-
ers—Amusing Reminiscences.

An old and familiar landmark for
over sixty years in Toronto disap-

it was wholly unfit even for firewood.
Alas, for leonine greatness!

The partnership between Robart
Walker and Thomas Hutchinson was

- dissolved in 1853, when the latter re-

tired from the firm, and so incensed
was he at some ill-treatment, or fan-
cied ill-treatment, that he had receiv-
ed from his former colleague, that he
opened a few doors below his late
place of business, what was, for the
Toronto of those days, an immense
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premises, also for the sale of dry !to b2 no less a personage than his
goods, calling it “The Pantechmeth- | Majesty the King of Delhi, who had
eca.” revolted against the British during
Rivalry was very keen between the (the great Indian mutiny, and had,
“Pantec,” as the boys of Toronto de- !after fearful conflict, been captured
lichted to call it, and “The Golden | by her Britannic Majesty’s victorious
Lion,” and, sad to say, for the pro- |troops.
prietor of the former c-stablishune‘ntj This barefaced, deeeptive advertise-
at any rate if for nobody else, even- ' meint was rot allowed to pass un-
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THE GOLDEN LION, KING STRERT BAST.

tually “The Golden Lion’ came out on | challemged by the firm, as it had then
top. become, of Robert Walker & Son, for

Almost as soon as the Pantechneth- | they almost immediately placed a
eca started in business they secured | gigantic transparency across King
the services of a gentleman of colour, | street, informing an interested and
who, arrayed in gorgeous ramnemt, | amused public that there was “ne
marched up and down in front of the humbug at the old reliable sign of the
Pantechnetheca premises and was an- , Goldea Lion.” Besides this definite
pounced by an obsequious page boy | assertion, they hinted in divers ways
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somewhat monre than obscurely that
anybody who went to a certain estab-
lishment, not a great many yards
eastward from their own, would most
surely be ‘“taken in and done for.”

The Pantechnetheca did not last
long. Late in 1858 it vanished from
King street east, and though the pre-
mises were there, the glory had de-
parted.

For a_ great number of years the
Golden Lion was the one store in To-
ronto where the country people out-
side of Toronto habitnally went.
Farmers, agricultural labourers, coun-
try residents generally, when they
came to Toronto went to the Golden
Lion as a matter of course; they had
confidence in the place, and the firm
never did anything to show that this
confidence was misplaced. Gradually,
with the growth of population and
the increase of stores for the sale of
dry goods, the Golden Lion cecased to

become the “Mececa” of country shop- |

pers as it had been during the “for-
ties,” “fifties,” and early “sixties.”

Since 1898, owing to deaths and
other causes, the business was elosed,
and a little later the premises sold
for other purposes than that of shop-
keeping, and what had at ome time
been one of the principal attractions
of Toronto, among its places of busi-
ness, ceased to exist.

It will be interesting to mote that
the first clerk employed in 1846 by
Messrs. Walker & Son was Mr. Thos.
Thompson, who afterwards founded
the Mammoth House, opposite St.
Lawrence Hall, on King streei east.

CHAPTER V.
THE OLD DON BRIDGE.

Changes That Have Been Effected in |

the Locality in the Last Fifty Years
—A Great Crime Recalied.

The sketch of the old Don bridge,
which was erected in 1851 on about
the site of the present bridge, was
the scene on the 1st of December,
1859, of a terrible tragedy. On that
night Mr. John Sheridan Hogan, a
well known member of Parliament,
was crossing the bridge on his way
home from Mr. Beachall’s honse east
of the Don, when he was attacked by
a erowd of ruffians who knocked
him sepseless and then threw his
body into the river from the centre
of the south side of the bridge. Mr.

| Hogan’s disappearance created a
'great deal of excitement, for his
body was not discovered till 1861. The

' persons concerned were members of
a gang known as the Brooks Bush
Gang, and while every effort was
|made to fasten the crime on two or
| three of the gang, James Brown, one
Iorf the number, was found guilty of
striking the blow and for his deed

suffered death on March 10, 1862.

f The locality at the present time is
entirely changed. A new iron bridge
stands in place of the wooden bridge
of that date, and the neighbourhood
is fairly well built up where at one

| time were fields and pasture land.

The house shown as No. 1 in the
sketch was that of Benjamin Tomlin,
| who kept a tavern known as the
' “Lily of the Valley” on the south
side of Gerrard street, probably east
of the present Gerrard street bridge.
The house was removed several years
| ago.

No. 2 is a small house and rear
shed, now demolished; on the sounth
side' of King street east, situated
west of a building now used as a
{ carriage factory and numbered 645
! King street east.
| No. 3 is the Don Bridge which was
| built in 1851 by the late Emerson
| Coatsworth, the late City Commis-
| sioner. About 20 years later it waa
covered in, and on the north and
 south sides footpaths were made for
' passengers. In 1878 the bridge was
| swept away, and in October of the
same year the present structure was
erected, which was partially rebuilt
and strengthened in 1893.

No. 4 was, and is still, the house of
Mrs. Tobias Heinrich, No. 6i8 Queen
street east. Mrs. Heinrich has resid-
|ed there sinice the death of her hus-

 band. This is the first house on the
| north side of Queen street, east of the
river.

No. 5 is the house of John Thomson,
who lived in that neighbourhood in
the early part of the century. He
settled there about 1820.

Ne. 6 is the homestead of the Smith
family from 1806 till 1892. It was
sitnated on the south side of Queen
street, immediately east of the Don.
This homestead was only demolished
entirely in 1902. A very good picture
of it, as it was, is in Rebertson’s
Landmarks, Vol. 1, p. 132.

There have been many bridges over
the Don. The first bridge was known
as Playter’s Bridge. It was higher up

Y-
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the river at the east end of Win-
chester street.
bridge known as Scadding’s Bridge,
which was there in the time of Gov-
ernor Simcoe in 1794.

During the troubles of 1837 a num-
ber of those who took part in the
Rebellion, under Col.
set fire to the bridge and partially
destroyed it. The damage was soon
repaired, however, and the bridge
econtinued in use till 1850 when, in a

! Wilson on leaving the school became

Then there was the |

an Anglican clergyman.

The square marked “School House”
on lot.3 was the site of the old Blue
School, but a record shows that this

! school when built was further east

Von Egmond, !

spring freshet in the early part of |

April, it was swept away. While this
bridge was being reconstructed after
the flood a boat kaown as the Cigar
Ferry Boat was used in conveying
passengers and vehicles to and from
the city. The late Richard Tinning
was enterprising enough to operate
this ferry, but his enterprise (as it
destroyed a good deal of the trade
in ferrying people across the Don)
aroused the anger of the ’longshore-
men who had been doing this trade,
and one night aftar the Cigar boat
erew had left their craft, the boat
was sank in the east bank of the
Don, near the Smith homestead. The
eraft was raised and was of service
till the bridge was rebuilt.

CHAPTER VL
THE ORIGINAL SCHOOL RESERVE.

An Old Plan of Part of the Original
Town of York, Made by the Deputy
Surveyor-General.

This plan of a section of the town
of York was made by J. G. Chewitt,
the Deputy Surveyor-General. on the
24th April of a year later than 1834
and probably prior to 1837. New street
was not known as Nelson street until
after 1834, so that the plan was cer-
tainly made after that date.

The easterly street shown running
porth and south is New, afterwards
Nelson street, which ran north to
Lot, or Queen, street. When opened
porth of Queen it was called Jarvis
street.

eorner of New (Nelson) and Newgate
(Adelaide street) was the National
School, of which Mr. Joseph Spragge

—about the centre of lot 7—and late
in the thirties the building was re-
moved to lot 11, on the south side of
March street, east of the word “fence”
—on the southeast corner of New and
March streets.

Richmond street, prior to 1834, com-
menced at New (Nelson) street and
ran west to Yonge street and ended
there. The continuation of Rich-
mond street to its west limit at Peter
street was called Hospital street,
probably because it led to the General
Hospital, which was situated in the
block bounded by Newgate (Adelaide),
John and King streets.

Church street, the directory of 1834
says, ‘‘commences opposite the land-
ing place and wharf on Front street
and runs north.” It crossed Rich-
mond strect and then across “a street
intended to be a continuation of Lot
street, but intercepted by land to the
east (now Queen street) belonging to
the Hon. G. W. Allan and S. P. Jar-
vis, Esq.”

The directory of 1834 also says, “Lot
street east commences also in Yonge
street opposite here, but is intercept-
ed by the grounds of Capt. McGill, S.
P. Jarvis, Esq.,, and the Hon. G. W.
Allan; past them it is open and ex-
tends to the Catholic church, intended
to be a2 continuation to the Don
bridge.”

All this means that Church street
ran to the north line of Richmond
street, and that Lot street (Queen)

did run east of Yonge street, but
was not opened from the present
Bond street to Church street. The

first property east of Bond was the
McGill property (Metropolitan square),
further east from Church to Jarvis
was the S. P. Jarvis property, and

. east to Caroline (Sherbourne) was the

Allan property, and the next lot east
was the Ridout property, extending to
Seaton street. The Catholic church
referred to was old St. Paul’s, on

{ what is now Power street.
The schoolhouse at the north-east |

The Public Library of to-day stands

.on lot 11 at the north-east corner of

and Mr. J. T. Wilson were masters. '

Mr. Spragze was the father of the
late Vice-Chancellor Spragge, and Mr.

Church and Newgate (Adelaide) street.
In 1797 Hospital street is shown as
running to New street, and the square
bounded by Church, Hospital (Rich-
mond), New and Newgate streets was
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for Public school purposes. The old
Blue School and the National School,
therefore, stood on this square.
March street east (Stanley) (Lom-
bard) in 1834 commenced ‘“in Church
street” and ran “east ta New street”
(Nelson) (Jarvis); March street west
commenced in Church street and ran
west “to Upper George street,” now

north by the side of the gaol toNew-
gate (Adelaide) street.” On the ecast
side, at the present Court street, was
the gaol, and at the Trust and Loan
corner stood “the Episcopal Method-
ist church.”

The original roadway which led to
the market from the north was down
Yonge street to Lot (Queen) street

Victoria street. east, then down Lot street east to
o
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Upper George street (Victoria) is
noi. shown on this plan, but it was *a
cross street running from Newgate
(Adelaide) street, nearly opposite the
gaol,” which stood on the southeast
corner of Toronto and what is now
Court street, as far as Richmond
sireet.

Toronto street, the directory says,
“commences in King street and runs

Upper George street (Victoria), and
Toronto street to King.

Toronto street in the plan of 1797
is not shown as at present, but run-
ning in a straight line north to Lot
(Queen) street. The plan was, at a
later date, changed, and Toronto
street end:d at Newgate (Adelaide)
street in tront of the present post-
office.
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CHAPTER VIIL
PRIMITIVE METHODS.

Tools Used by Red Man—Stone, Cop-
per, Bone and Hide His Chief Ma-
terials—Ornaments and Trinkets.

Long before the saw, the adze, the
auger or the chisel found their way
to the shores of this vast continent,
the carpenter flourished at his trade
—built boxes, troughs, tables, benches
and other articles of household fur-
niture with a moderate degree of
success. His joints were perhaps not
quite so true nor his surfaces as
smooth as the productions of his Euro-
pean contemporary, but then his tools
were not so finished nor numerous—
indeed he made most of them himself,
an accomplishment that his rival on
the other side of the world could not
boast of. “Of what did his tools con-
sist ¢ Well, that’s a simple question
to answer. Here are a few of them:
Hatchets and hammers made of stone
and copper and fitted to handles with

leather thongs; scrapers to
answer the purpose of planes
made from stone and copper,
copper knives and chisels, copper

spikes, copper punches, flint drills and
scrapers, stone gouges and deer's horn
chisels. The copper used by the In-
dians was not mined but was the na-
tive metal found on the shores of Lake
Superior, hammered into shape
with stope *ools. The arts of melling,
smelting and tempering were unknown
to the red man at that time so that
his metal tools were not remarkable
for their solidily and durability.

Th: Indian was a leisurely sort of
artisan. His workshop was tha open
air and his hours of labour indefinite.
He went to work when be felt like it,
which was seldom, and leftt off when-
ever he wanted to; bear hunts, buffalo
chases, or a tribal war being suffi-
cicnt inducements to take him from
his bench or table for many a day,
leaving his squaw to do what she
could in his absence. But the In-
dian’s domestic needs were few, and
tim: was not pressing, so that what
could not be finished in one genera-
tion wag left to the leisure of the
next.

The dressing of leather was another
.art in which the North American
aborgine was skilled, and considering
the fact that his houses, clothes, har-
ness, lassos and other necessaries

were made from the hides of the ani-
mals he slew, the preparation of skins
wias of the first importance. The
serapers used in cleaning the hides
weare usually made from shank bones,
while the leather was shaped with
stone and copper knives.

Tradition do>s not say whether or
not the aboriginal blacksmith con-
structed his forge under a spreading
chestnut, nor does tradition inform us
that he had a forge, In fact, we
are told that he hammered hisi metal
cold, with stone hammers, However,
his metal instruments were few and
as they were all made from native
copper their construction was com-
paratively seasy though their value
wds proportionately less.

Tomahawks, those barbarous side-
arms which crashed through many a
pionezr’s skull, were invariably made
from stone, dressed into spherical

| «chapss somewhat after the style of

a goose egg, and fitted, to pliable wood-
en handles with leather thongs. In-
dian arrowhcads are too common to
Tequire a description farther than to
say that they were mostly of chipped
flint with an occasional coppeor tip.
Tho spearheads, too, were of flint and
copp>r fastened to long wooden stalks,

It hardly seems conceivable, but yet
it is a fact, that the red man was at
one time so hard put that he made his
digging tools of shoulder-blades and
sen-shells.

Among other things which owe their
existence to Indian handicraft are
horn spoons, plain wsoden spoons, horn
combs, birch-bark sap-troughs and
pails, wooden bowls, wooden sugar~
moulds, bone awls and needles, shell
cups and ingenious fish-hooks.

It fell to the 1ot of the squaw to
mill the corn and this she did with a
very simple contrivance which might
almost be called a mortar and pestle
only that the mortar was a good sized
rock with a slightly hollowed surface.
Into or upon this “mealing-stonme” the
squaw pound her maize and then pati-
ently pounded it into flour or meal. The
pastry of the Red Indian was not re-
markable for its variety; cream-puffs,
tarts, sponges and fancy cakes wecre
unknown to his modest digestive cr-
gans. A little water, fat, and shreds
of meat mixed withi flour, wa3 almost
the limit of any Indian housewife’s
knowledge of baking. But in the mat-
ter of joints, roasts and steaks
the Indian was an epicure. Broilod
fresh venison and buffalo marrow are
dishes that might make anv white
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man’s mouth water, hut the deer and
the buffalo were more plentiful than
modern caitle at that time.

The Indian’s love for jewellery and
other ornaments was a weakness by
which many a white trader profited.
But before the time of the trader the
red man was forced to make his own
trinkets. Beads, which were always in
great demand, were made from stone,
bone and shell, and though not par-
ticularly attractive, were neverthe-
less highly prized by their owners.
Bear’s claws and teeth were also con-
sidered ornaments of beauty.

CHAPTER VIIL
THE WAR OF 1812,

from General Riall to.burn the town
of Buffalo, in retaliation for the burn-
ing of Newark, which, with the aid
of one gun detachment, I did, with
the exception of one detached house,
which we left standing, because there
was a female in it badly wounded,
who must have perished if she had
been removed out into the snow, and
who, I afterwards had the satisfaction
of hearing, had recovered. although
she had been shot through the body
and tomahawked in the head by an
Indian. Thie United States ships of war
‘Chippewa,” ‘Little Belt,” and “Cripple,’
were burned by the infantry. On our
return to B ack Rock I was ordered
to burn it, which was done. We took
13} prisoners and 6 guns. Our killed,
wounded and missing 113.”

The foregoing is an account of some
of the numerous affairs on the Niagara
frontier in which the General was en-

Capture of Fort Niagara—Burning of |
Buffalo—The Man Who Fired the .
Town—A Distinguished Veteran.

The following hitherto unpublished |
statements relating to the war of i812- |
14 are extracted from Statement of |
Services of the late Major-General
Richard Say Armstrong, who, as lieu-
tenant, acted as adjutant to the Brit-
ish artillery in Canada during the v.ar
of 1812 and 1813 with the United |
States:—

“19th December, 1813. Assault and
Capture of Fort Niagara, State of New
Yorx.—The assaulting force was {80
men; the American garrison 429; 65
of the enemy killed; 14 officers, 12
sergeants and 318 rank and 1iile taken
prizoners, including wounded. About
20 made their escape over the walls
of the fort. We captured 27 pieces
of ordpnance and 3,007 stand of arms.
On 25th December, 18{3, I was sent
with two guns to destroy two of the
enemy’s vessels under Black Rock, and
forced them to run ashore. On 27th
December Lieut.-Co!. Drummond moved
up to the ferry opposite B'ack Rock,
with a force of 1,355 men, under Major-
General Riall. On the night of the
30th the troops crossed the Niagara
River under cover of the fire of all
the artillery under Captain Bridge, and
as soon as their landing was effected
we likewise crossed. Enemy’s force was
from 2,000 to 2,500 men. 'They fled
from Black Rock to the town of Buf-
falo, about 2 1-2 miles distant. We fol-
lowed in close* pursuit. The enemy
again fled, followed by all the in-
habitants of Buffalo. I received orders

gaged, and most of which, though
small affairs, were very perilous to
those engaged, especially on the Brit-
ish side, who, from the vicinity of the
State of New York, were grea{ly out-
numbered, many officers being victims
of the backwoods riflemen, who were
especially employed to pick out the
British officers, and who were in the
habit of climbing trees for that pur-
pose. The General’s brother, Ensizn
Henry Armstrong, fell in  this wav,
shot in the lungs, and surviving only
tive days. He belonged to the Can-
adian Fencible Regiment. The late
General, who, it is believed, was tle
only British officer who went right
through the war, teing (excepting two
slight skirmishes) present in every
action, and consejuently undergoinz
very great risk, was fortunate enough
to receive only a slight wound in the
leg, though he had several horses
killed and wounded under him. Tie
Americans during the war made five
different invasions ot Canada, every
one of wnich was repulsed, with loss
of several of their generals taken
prisoners. The snow rendered oper-
ations very difficualt and s>vere the
troops being frequently without shel-
ter. The General had seen much ser-
vice in other parts of the world, and
had suffered both from yellow fever
and Jamaica fever during over half a
century (54 years) of active service.
e winds up his statement of services
as follows: “I may perhaps be per-
mitted to mention that my father. the
late Rishard Hirst Armstrong, surgeon
10th Royal Veteran Battalion, after
passing the greater part of his life
in his Majesty’s service, was drowned
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at the shipwreck of the ‘Harpooner,’
transport, at Cape Race, Newfound-
land, when on his voyage home with
hiz regiment from Canada, on 10th
Novemkber, 1816, together with my
mother, two sisters and a brother. I
was the eldest son; one sister, Mrs.
Maude, having been saved from the
wreck. His second son, Enrign Henry
Armstrong, died on 16th November,
i813, of wounds received in action at
Chrystler’s Farm, Canada, on 1lth
November, 1813, shot through the
lungs. He belonged to the Canadian
Fencible Regiment. His third son,
Horatio Armstrong, killed by accident |
in the streets of Quebec in 188
knocked down by a sleigh; skull frac-
tered. His youngest daughter died in
Quebec, 1809, the only member of the
family who as vet died a natural death.
(Signed) R. T Armstrong, Major- |
General from Royal Artillery.” J
This statement of services remnderesd
to his country obtained for Major-
General Armstrong the good service
pension of £100 per annum. He died at
IL.ucerne, Switzerland, in 1865.

CHAPTER IX.
YONGE STREET STAGE LINE.

How the Early Settler Made his Way
to Richmond Hill—Transportation
to Lake Simcoe in the Early Days.

As long as Toronto or York County
exists the name of Sir George Yonge,
Secretary of War in 1791, will be per-
yretuated; for it is from him that
Yonge street, the principal thorough-
fare of the city, and of the county as
we'l. received its name. Yonge street
is one of the o'dest highways in the
province. It was originally an Indian
trail, leadiny to ILake Simcoe. In 1794
it was made a bush road by order of
Governor Simcoe, the troops of his
Excellency's corps laying the road. So
rough was the track that when, in
1797, Balser Munshaw, one of the
founders of the village of Richmond
Hiil, sought a wilderness home along
this thoroughfare, it was found neces-
sary to taie his canvas-top waggon
apart, and drag the wheels and axles
and other equipment up the steep hills
by means of strong ropes. Parts of
the road were laid with stone shortly
afterwards, but it was not until 1847
that the road was macadamized as far |
s Hoiland Landing. And now, fifty'

. stages was the

yvearas from that date, it is a service-
able, modern highway, with a baker’s
dozen of post-offices; and bicycles, elec-
tric cars, motor-cycles traversing it.

Yonge street was one of the old
stage coach routes. The first stage
line was started in 1878 by George
Playter and his sons. The stages were
ponderous affairs, of the o!d English
mail ‘coach style, drawn by four horses.
[n 1832 the line was bought by Wil-
liam Weller. This gentleman was alsao
the owner of lines of stages to Kings-
ton and Dundas and Niagara. In lLis
advertisements Mr. Weller guar-
anteed to take passengers through to
Hamilton by daylight on the Lake

. Shore road. The journey to Kingston
| generally lasted twenty-eight hours.

The headquarters for Weller’s lines of
“Coffin B'ock”—the
wedge-shaped building that then
stool on the site of the present build-
ing at the intersection of Church,
Wellington and Front streets.

A busy scene was presented at the
corner every day with the various
stages arriving and departing, north,
east and west. The line %o the north
pzssed into the hands of Charles
Thompson, of Summerhill, abtout i8°0.
Mr. Thompson was owner of the is'and
of St. Joseph, in the Georgian Bay.
He was interested in {he steamer
Beaver, on Lake Simcoe, and was one
of the owners of the steamer Morn-
ing, Captain Lawton, on the same lake.
Great difficuity was exrerienced in
fitting out tLis vessel. Her machinery
had to be hau'ed up Yonge street from
Toronto on ro'lers, made from sections
of tree trunks. Weeks were spent in
the trip from the city.

The Yonge street stages ran in con-
nection with these steamers. An old
advertisement of 1850 states: “A stage
in connection with the steamer Morn-
ing on Lake Simcoe leaves the Simcoe
stage office, Ledde'l's building, Church
street, dai'y, Sunday excepted, at 7
o’clock a. m., and at 3 o’clock p. m.
Another stage in conneciion with the
steamer Beaver on Lake Simcoe leaves
the Western Hotel daily at 7 o’clock
a. m. Pine Grove, a stage leaves the
stage office, Liddell’s luildings, for
Pine Grove daily at 3 o'clock p. m.,
Richmond Hill, Thornkill and York
Mi'ls. There are also stages for Rich-
mond Hill, Thornhill and York Mills
leaving the Market Square daily at 4
o'clock p. m.”

From this it will be seen that there
were more than one line of stages on
Yonge street. The second line was
started by a Mr. Shuttieworth in
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1847 The vehic'es were called omni.
buses, in contrast to the stages of the
Thompson line, and only ran as far as
Richmond Hi’l, 16 miles north of To-
ronto. Mr. Shuttleworth was succeed-
ed by Edward Shepherd, proprietor
of the Half Way House, where the
horses were changed on the route be-
tween Holland Lauding and Toronto.

The fate of the stage line was seal-
ed when, in 1853, the Northern raiiway
was eonstructed. Up-to that period all
the passengers, baggage and mail be-
tween Toronto and Holland Landing
had gone by stage. When the railway
went through, the line to the Landing
was discontinued. DMail was still car-
ried as far as Richmond Hill by the
bus line, which passed successively
into the hands of John Palmer, a
Richmond Hill hotel keeper named
Raymond, William Cook, of the York-
shire house, Thornhill, and John
Thompson. This gentleman bought
the line early in the seventies, and did
not discontinue it until 1896, when
the introduction of electric cars killed
the business.

Mr John Langstaff, proprietor of
the Hawthorn  Mineral Springs,
Thornhi'l, tells an interesting ancedote
of the stage line during the American
war, when the line was in the hands
of William Cook. A young man named
William Smith. whom Mr. Langstaff
bad cared for as he would for a son,
eaught the war fever and eould not be
prevented from enlisting in the army
of the North. So one summer morning
he bade his guardian good-bye, and the
rattiing, lumbering stage hurried him
out of sight. A letter was received
some time afterward, stating that he
was in New York, in the 25th New
York Regiment. Another letter vas
received, in which he stated that he
wag in aetive service near New Or-
leans, “and from that day to this,”
Mr. Langstaff says, with a sigh, “we
have never heard the least rumour re-
garding him.”

CHAPTER X.
PARLIAMENT HOUSES 1796-1812.

Plan of the Property Made About 1796,
with the Exact Location of the Par-
liament Buildings Burnt in 1812.
This plan of part of the eastern cnd

to the town of York (Toronto) is im-

portant, as it gives the exact location

of the Government Houses which were

erected by Governor Simcoe in 1794,

and recbuilt in 1816, after the war of
1812. The title shows that the “land
occupied by John Small, Esg.,” who
was Clerk of the Executive Council
from 1792 to 1831, was part of the
reserve appropriated for the Gov-
ernment House at York by his Ex-
celleney Lieut.-Governor Simeoe.

The street on the west is the pre-
sent Princess street, at right angles
to which ran “Palace street,” and
“King street.” “Ontario street”
was as it is to-day. “Of the town,”
is the end of a sentence off a large
map which read ‘“East end of the
town.”

The “road to Quebec” was King
street over the Don and east along
the present Kingston road.

Palace street is shown, and this
plan indieates that its east end was
at the line running north and south,
indicated by the word “linec.”

The ground south of Palace street
to the bay and east to the site of
the Government Houses was the “re-
serve,” and cemposed in part the old
fair green west of the old Toronto
jail, erected in 1841, and torn down
in 1887.

Mr. Small’s lot was one acre. The
Small Homestead is on the south-
west corner of King and Berkeley
streets. The original lot was 166x
165, but the easterly 50 feet at the
corner of Berkeley street has sinee
been

Berkeley street was not laid out in
1794, but as the south line of Mr.
Small’s improvements was 130 feet
from King street, the distance
“rather more than 100 yards,” to the
site of the north Government House,
south of the figures “100” in the plan,
shows where the house stood on the
present Front street.

A careful comparison of this plan
with the latest plans of the bame
section shows that Berkeley street
when it was opsned ran down the east
side of the dotted line shown as
running south from King strect and
onding at the letter F., and that the
west face ot the Government Houses
stood on a linc distant 175 fcet ecast
from this line. Following out the dis-
tance given of 4 ehains and 78 links
in a south-easterly direction from
the point C to the point of junetioa
with, the 17§ foot line shows that the
north Government House stood on
the south side of Front street, 110
fcet east of Buorkeley street, on the
site where now stands the office of
the Economiecal Gas Apparatus Con-
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struction Co., at No. 271 Front street
east. The most northerly building | of Ontario. Th> east wing of the hall
stood back about 40 feet from the pre~ ! was the first erected, and was occu-
sent south line of Front street and | pied in 1832 The centre, or main
the buildings extended south about 270 | building, was built in 1834, and in
feet. This property is now all pwn- | 1844-46 the western wing was added
ed by the Consumers' Gas Co. and the centre building was recon-

in Canada, especially in the Province
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CHAPTER XI. structed. The plan shown was made

in 1837 by William Hawkins, a well-

THE OSGOODE HALL SITE. known surveyor of the perlo,d. A his-

B tory of the entire structure is oon-

A Pfan of the Historic Spot Where the | tained in Vol. I. of “Robertson’s Land-
Supreme Courts of Ontario Held lmarks.” pages 393-7.

Their Sittings. The descent of the ownership from
Osgoode Hall is a household name | tbe Crown is as follows :— \
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1797—Grant from th> Crown to Rev.'

T. Raddi h, all of Park lot No. 1l.
1798—Ssld by Raddish to Hon. J.
Elm 1:y, Park lot No. 11.
i8083—Willed by Eilmsley to Mary
Elm-ley, Park lot No. 1l.
1822—Grant by M. Elm ley to Alex-
ander Wood, south half lot No. 11.
i1825—Sold by Wood to Hon. J. B.
Robirson, south half lot No. 11,
iRZ8—Iease and relcase, Robinson to
Law Society, six acres, lot No. 11.
The plot surrendered by the Hon.
J. B. Robinson to thz Crown was a

part of th> parade ground to the east |

of tb: Armouries.

. of

There 1s no record in the books of |

the Law Socielty showing that it
owned any laad north of Osgoode
street, or that they ever lecased it or
any part of 1t. A statement that the
site of the present hall was a gift
to th: Law Society by the Hon. Chief
Justice Robinson is erroneous, for the
corporation paid one thousand pounds
currency to that gentleman for the
ground.

Tb: land to the west side of the
ball 1s shown as College avenue, there
b<ing no street intervening, and a
plan of th: city in 1842, made by
James Cane, corresponds with the
small plan that accompanies this
landmark. The street, formerly known
as Park Lane, was made in 1846. The
nam2 was changed to University
street in 1861. In 1859-60 there was
a University street north of Bloor
street, mm Yorkville, running west
from Yonge street. It is now York-
ville avenue. The street to the cast
of the hall was Sayer street, named
by tbe late Chief Justice Sir John B.
Robinson, and this street was re-
named n 1873, and called Chestnut
street. Lot street was changed to
Quzen street in 1845.

CHAPTER XII.
IN PROVINCIAL MUSEUM.

The Ornithological Department — A
Rare Collection of Canadian and
Foreign Birds.

B8IRDS

Perhaps the citizens of this fair
cily do not realize that they have in
their midst what will ere long be one
of the most interesting and complete
museums on this continent, contain-
ing exhibits pertaining to ecvery de-

partment of na‘ural science and his-
torical development. A few years ago
the Provincial Museum in the Normal
School building at Toronto, though
knowa to most students as a source
of ocducational interest, was by no
means< an imposing affair, but now
it ha: assumed proportions and quali-
tizs which render it a most valuable
sourcz of information, study aad
recreation. The whole second flat of
the school is devoted to large varie-
ties of exhibits, comprising birds
from all the countries in the world.
Egyptian mummies, countless skulls
famous  savages, arrow-houds,
spears, Navajo Indian weaving, South
Sea Isiand implements of war and
peace, Indian relics from North aod
South America, mnative handiwork
from the wilds of Africa, stuffed

. animals, pickled snakes, and a mil-

lion and one other things too numer-
ous to name. All these articles of in-
terest are neatly arranged in large
glass cases or hung on the walls in
such a way as to be conveniently seen,
and labelled in order that their uses
and origin may be easily understood.
Mr. David Boyle, a min well read
in tb2 ways and developmecat of the
genus man, 18 the cuslodian of the
innumearable relics, while Mr. John
Maugban. jr., a natur=list of wide ex-
perience and exceptioral ability, his
charge of the ornithological depart-
ment. Mr. Mauzha1 has been com-
missioned by the Government to col-
lect and mouat a most complete
assortment of Canadian and foreign
hird:, and a3 a result those visiting
th» Normal School are delighted with
th magnificent display of feithered
songsters, birds of paradise, water
fowl, etc., which possess all the ap-
parent attributes of life exezpt
motion. Mr. Maunghan has been col-
lecting this exhibit privately for fif-
tecn years and has been in correspon-
dence in all countries in the world.
The Canadian colleciion being now the
property of rhe Ontario Governmcout,
the foreign coilection Mr. DMaughan
has placed on view as a loan collectiur
to the public.

We will hold a short review of the
foreign birds, beginning with the
pheasants, a species not unknown to
hunters. The first we happen upon
are two extinct varieties, the black
pheasant of Guatemala and the horn-
ed pheasant. The latter bird was
colleeted by a German missionary in
the interior of Guatemala, being one
of two given him when he arrived in
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the country. During a stay of six
years in Guatemala the missionary,
who evidently found ornithology to be
as profitable as evangelization, suc-
ceeded in collecting only
birds of the same variety.
Japanese game birds are the next Lo
attract our attention; they are the
Amhberst, Goldden and Reeves pheas-
ants. Then comes the Red Argus
(getting its name from the Argus-
eyed dots which cover its body), whose
Fome is in the Himalayan mountains,
and the Impyean and Sommerings,
which hail fron far away Japan and
China as well as the Himalayas. More
familiar birds are the Black cock of
Scotland, the Red grouse and Red
legged partridge of Great Britain.

Teaving the game birds we meet
with a few more English friends, viz.,
the rook, the hooded crow and the
Jackdaw from England.

Trave:linz to Australia we make the
acquaintance of the lyre-bird, and a
most beautiful specimen he is, with
a remarkable upright tail resembl-
ing a fancy Acoiian harp. This bird
is one of Australia’s national em-
blems.

A pretty group of brilliant plum-
aged little birds, designated “Sun
birds,” represent the Islands
matra and Java and distant India.
Anoher collection of little feathered
beauties are the Tanagers which rival

the raintow for varieties of colours.

Passing a rare black cuckoo from
India and blossom-headed and yellow-
headed maniking, we stop to inspoet
the tits. These are of many colours
while ome little fellow claims atten-
tion for having been collected by the
famous Stcer Expedition in the Philip-
pines in 1888. The mo:.-mots, 80 nam-
ed because thsy swing their tails
while at rest lika the pendulum of a
clock, are remarkable for a peculiar
custom they have ol trimming their
two long tail feathers about an inch
and a half from the end. We must not
neglect to drop a bow of recognition
to our couatry friends the “jays,”
among them being the great crested
jay from Central America and the
black-headed jay from India. )

The Cotingas, near cousins to our
previous acguaintances the Tanagers
demand a glance. There are three
varieties, one from Central America
and two from India.

Resplendent with long metallic green
tail-feathers are the Trojans or Quc=
sals. Though the bird itself is no largec

twio more |
Three

) I back and plumed bead.

of Su- |

than an ordinary parrot, its tail is
sometimes 40 ineches long. Owinx to
this fact, the Trojan selects tho top
of the trunk of a tall dead tree for
his nest. Like the woodpecker, h2
hunts for a soft spot in the wood, and
pecks his way into the interior. But
he is not satisfied with one hole—he
must have a biuck door as well as a
front door, the former for an entrance
and the latter for an exit. This pre-
vents damage to his long tail, which
hangs away out of the front door
_when the male is keeping the eggs
| Gvhich are very rare) warm. The fe-
i males have no long tails. i

‘ A brilliant, pugnacious little bird 18
the cock of the rock, with his orange
When mating
in the spring the female birds form
a ring about eight feet across, exclud-
ing the males until the proper time
for their entrance arrives. At the
right moment the cocks are admitted
to the select circle and proceed to go
through a sort of a war dance, strut-
| ting up and dowa inside of the ring,
! very much as a cock sparrow some-
times does.The brave who keeps up this
war dance the longest can take his
‘choice of the whole circle of females
| for a wife.

Taking a peep at  the magpies
| brought from the forests of Japan,

| America, India and South Africa, we
stop a moment to admire the blue
ro'lers trom ltaly and the Philippines,

Coming among the pigeons, we car-

not help but admire the Victoria
Crown pigeon of Australia, almost as
big as a young turkey, of bluish slate
colour with chocolate breast, and
boasting a fan-like decoration on
his head, somewhat similar to, but
. more profuse tham that worn by the
peacock. The noticeable features of
the Nicobar pigeon, which is of a
green shade mixed with black, is a
golden green hackle on the neck, and
. the fact that the wings are longer than
the tail (which is pure white) when
the bird is in repose. Then we have
the large New Zealand pigeon, now
very rare, sent to Mr. Maughan with
a number of other birds from the
Emperor of Austria, the bronze-wing-
ed pigeon from Australia, the green
pigeon from India, the red-breasted
pigeon from the Philippines, and the
passenger pigeon from North Am-
erica.

Passing the @&rackles, we come updn
| a big family of parrots and cockatoos
of colours and species too numerous
to enumerate. Perhaps the most
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imteresting member of this family 13
the Nestor, or sheep-killing parrot, ol
Australia, another gift to DMr.
Mauglian from the Ewmperor of Aus-
tria’s collection. This long-beaked bird
ailbghts on the back of a live sheep and
pecks a hole through the hide to the
poor animal’s kidneys, which is the
shieep-kiiler's tit-bit. This bird first
cultivated a taste for mutton by
feeding on slaughter-house refuse.

Hurrying along we take hasty
glances at the big billed Toucans,
five varieties of barbets and four
varicties of todies, presided over by
the king tody, and then stop to ad-
mire the foreign ducks from Japan,
China and England.

Two little sandpipers attract the
eye for a minute; the spoon-bill from
Japan and the broad-bill from Rus-
sia. A nest of the former (which is
practically extinct) has never been
found, but the bird is supposed to
breed im Siberia.

Giving a coursory glance to the
night herons and rails we cannot
help but pause to admire the large
variety of gaudy-plumaged King-
fishers, representing nearly every
quarter of the globe. Continuing the
round, we look upon the cassicus,
from Colombo, South America; the
horn-bill, from the Philippines, and
the long-necked snake-darters, which
swim with their bodies submerged
and their necks stretched on the sur-
face of the water like water-snakes.

A majestic bird, whose wings have
deterjorated into mere flippers, is the
giant penguin, 28 inches in height. He
inhabits the south Pacific.

The birds of paradise, a number ot
specimens of which are now extinet,
form a collection which is remarkable
for beauty and variety, and which it
is impossible to describe.

But we could go on enumerating the
satin bower bird, the Pitta, the Dronw

go shrike, the Dayal bird, the gros

beak, the bell bird, the mina bird, the
fly-catcher, and many other foreign
birds, without being able to do any
of them justice. They must be scen
to be appreciated.

And now for the birds of Canadal
Owing to the fact that Mr. Maughan
has been able to procure the skins of
the domestic birds first hand, they

possess 2 remarkably fresh and life. |

like appearance.

The first we stop to admire are the
eagles, sturdy, fierce-looking birds of
prey, which seem to be on the lookout

for some unsuspecting viectim. The
bald-headed eagle, with his ruffled
white head is the most imposing fel-
‘low, though the goiden is not
far behind. There are several of the
latter, both males and females. Near
cousing of the eagle are the hawks—a
large and interesting family. These
birds, as a rule, are credited with
being a scourge to farm yards and
| poultry-breeders,but for the most part
| they are very serviceable, ridding the
i air of vermin and the earth of rep-
3tiles. There are, however, some very
; ill-behaved hawks, that prey upon the
| farms and make themsélves objection-
! able generally. Chief among this class
is the peregrin or duck hawk, whose
bill of fare consists chiefly of assorted
' ducks. Another scapegrace is Cooper’s
hawk, a fierce little bird, who al<o
' makes fowl his chief article of food.
Of the beneficial hawks, we have the
m@arsh or harrier hawk, tihe 1ough-lec=
| ged. buzzard and the black buzzard,
birds which dine on mice, frogs, little
snakes, etc. A few more of our evil-
mannered friends are the pigeonhawk,
the sparrowhawk, the big red-tailed
hawk and the red-shouldered hawk.
‘ Another hawk of the frog-eating var-
I iety is Audobon’s coracara. A rusty-
I legged and rusty-winged visitor from
- the south is Harris’ hawk, a bird bear-
ing a very close resemblance to his
ICanadian relatives. A very rare bird
| of the hawk variety is the swallow-
| tailed kite, a remarkable looking bird
with a white body and long black
wings and tail. Snakes, lizards and
grasshoppers form his diet. There are
also the American fishhawk, the
. sharp-shinned hawk and the goshawk,
once much used by falconers.

The owls come next, ranging in size
| from the great horned owl, which
| preys upon chickens and rabbits, to the
I little sereech owl. These birds econ-
fine their operations to the 1nseet,
reptile, animal and feathered weorld,

| most of tlem  beimg  nocturn=~
lal, having no love for the
sunshine. A beautiful creature is

the snowy owl, with feathers as white
and soft as its name signifies. A rare
specimen is the grecat grey owl, but
the long-eared owl, which likes
catching its food alive, and the short-
| eared or marsh owl belong to tha com-
moner varieties.

The bane of trout ponds is the belt-
ed king-fisher, a rather small bkird
with a big head and beak.

Getting in among the inseet de-
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ptroyers we come into contact wvith
the red-shafted flicker, the yellow-
breasted tyrant fly-catcher, the black
and yellow-billed cuckoos, the king
bird and the towhee bunting. A well-
beloved littie friend is the mourning
dove, a modest little bird dressed in
soft shade of brown and grey and there
is a little fellow called the spowwbird,

Birds of bright yellow, orange and
black plumage next engage our at-
tention. They are of the family of Ori=

cles, golden bullocks, and Baltimore, |

Anotlier pretty little fly eater is the
red-breasted nuthatch. There are two
varieties of the wax-wing, those soft
grey plumaged birds which prey upon

cherry trees, rowan berries, ete.
They are the cedar Wax-~
wing and the Bohemian wax-wing.

Passing the white-throated sparrow
we stop to admire the scarlet tanager
or warrior bird, searlet in colour with
black wings and tail.

The attractive little specimens attirs
ed in yellow and grey are knowrfas the
“magnolia warblers,” while that
lemon-coloured little fellow, a rare

specimen, travels under the name of |
the “yellow palm warbler.” Another

rare bird is the Wilsea warbler, with
markings of yellow and black. There
are also the “Canadian warbler,” the
“parula warbler,” the “mourning
warbler” (so ealled heeause the mark-
ings on its breast resembles a shroud),
and the “Maryland warbler.”

Still lingering among the little

birds we notice the Blackburnian,
the ‘“indigo bunting,” the colour its
name indicates; the “long-billed

marsh wren,” and ancther very rare
denizen of the air, the “fork-tailed
fly-cateher,” a close relative to a
southern variety of fly-catcher called
the “scissorJtail.”

A striking member of the “jay”
family is the “California jay,” a beau-
tiful blue creature as big as a pigeon,
a marked contrast, in size, to the fa-
miliar little blue jay.

Saying good-bye to the jays, we pay
3, visit to the blackbirds or Grackles,
those noisy inbhabitants of large
marshes. The “boat-tailed blackbird»
is the first to come within our ken,
and is remarkable because of his big

scoop-shaped tail, while the “ani,” or |
in-

“Savannah blackbird,” bases his
dividuality on his bill, which looks so
top-heavy. A pumber of blackbirds
wihich derive their names from their
markings are the “yellow-headed
‘blackbird,” the “red-shouldered black-

lb'er." and “the bronze and rusty

grackle.”

“The first robin,”” whiech generally
makes its appearance in Canada dur-
ing the month of February, is often
not a robin, but a “grosbeak,” a bird
which greatly resembles our cheer-
ful friend on account of the similar
colourings, and especially the ‘“rose-
breasted grosbeak.” There is quite a
large family of these winter visitors,
and they make an interesting collec-
tion.

“Woodpeckers” come next. The
varieties are numerous and the mark-
ings striking. The various members
of the family are the ‘“pileated or cock
of the woods,” the “Arctic three-
teed,” the “American three-toed,” the
“ yellow-bzllied sap-sucker,” the
“downy woodpecker,” the “hairy wood-
pecker,” and a most familiar friend,
the “red-headed woodpecker.” The
biggest being the pileated woodpecker,

There are 25 varieties of the spar-
row, too many to enumerate. The mest
| noticeable are the ‘“vesper sparrow”
‘and the “fox sparrow.”

After a hasty glance at the thrushes
we find ourselves among the plover
and sandpipers. The different spe-
cies vary greatly in size. ‘A few of
these varicties are—The “greater and
lesser  yellow legs,” the ‘‘piping
plover,” the ‘“Dbelted plover,” *the
“solitary sandpiper,” the “Dowitcher
sandpiper,” the “Wilson phalarope,”’
the “red phalarope,” the ‘“pectoral
sandpiper,” the “knot sandpiper,” the
“golden plover,* the “turnstone,” the
“killdeer” (not a carnivorous bird,
i but so named because its eall re-
| sembles the ery of “killdeer!”; the
| “sanderling,” and the “spotted sand-
| piper,” with a family of young.

Passing along the cases we eatch
glances of the ‘“Hudsonian curlew,”
the' ‘Florida gullinule,” a ‘“‘coot” and
a ‘“marble godwit.”

The “rails” comprise another group
of game birds consisting of the “Vir-
ginia,” the “king rail,” and the “Sora
rail.” Of the “bitterns” we have the
“least bittern,” “Cory's least  bit-
| tern,” a very rare specimen, which
! makes its home in Canada and Florida,
though never seen in the intervening
, States. Fipishing with the big “Am-
rerican bittern,” we pass on to the
i “herons.” taking in the “black
‘“crowned,” *night heron,” “green hers
on.” “little blue heron,” “great blue

heron.” Of the “ibis” there are the

|
|
|
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“white-faced,” “scarlet,” “white,’
and ‘“‘glossy.”

Beginning with the great “white

crane,” we make the acquaintance of
a long-legged and long-necked va-
riety. Besides the “little brown crane,”
and the big “sand-hill crane,”
there are two intermediate sp:-
cres the latter variety which
have not  yet been  classified.
They were taken in Manito. a
though American naturalists do not
belicve that the bird is ever seen in
this country. Prof. W. Raine, of To=
romto, though, having skins and eggs
coilected under affidavit. A big bird,
nearly five feet high, is thz “whoop~
ing crane.”

Birds which stir up appetizing re-
collections are the partridge and
grouse. Among the varieties are the
white “willow ptarmigan,” the **sharp-
tailed grouse,” the “prairie hen,” the
“ruffed grouse,” and a number of
southern varieties.

The collection of ducks and geese
is an extensive one and an interest-
ing study by itself. It takes in every
known specimen, and shows some of
Mr. Maughan’s best werkmanship. The
gulls, too, offer much of interest, as
well as many other water-birds too
numerous to mention.

This enormous co.lection of Cana-
dian and foreign tirds were all
mounted by Mr. Maughan personallyy
and it is acknowledged by authorities
to be the acme of the taxidermist’s
art.

of

CHAPTER XIIIL
THREE OLD PLANS OF YORK.

Water Front of Toronto and Town-
ship of Dublin as They were Over
a Hundred Years Ago.

The plans of York, marked A, B and
C, are three of the many that have
been reproduced, but tbhese plans are
interesting because
front of toe town shortly after the
present Township of York was chang-
ed in name from that of the Town-
ship of Dublin.

There is no MS. giving the date at
which the township was first called
“Dublin,” but there is no doubt that
the date of change to “York” was in
1794, when Toronto was founded.

In a Gazetteer compiled by D. W,
Smyth, the Surveyor-General of the

they show the’

Province of Upper Canada, to illus-
trate the map of the colony by the
desire of Governor Simcoe, and pub-
lished im 1799, York Township was
called “Dublin.” In a second edition
of the Gazetteer, issued in 1813, “Dub-
lin” is referred to as ‘“Dublin, now
called the Towmship of York, which
see.”” Under the heading which reters
to the township the description in the
Gazetteer, reads

“York Township is 1n the east riding
of the County of York, and lies to
the west of Scarborough, having the
Humber River for its western limit.
Its front is principally occupied by a
long, sandy beach, which forms the
harbour. The rest of the township is
open to Lake Ontario, and that “To-
ronto Bay, now called York Harbour.”

In 1788 Toronto Harbour was de-
seribed by Johm Colling, of Quebec,
Deputy Surveyor-General, in a re-

rt presented to Lord Dorchester,

| Governor-General, on the Dilitary
¢ Posts and Harbours on Lake Ontario,
. Erie and Huron, as follows:—

i “The harbour of Toronto is near two
miles in length from the entrance on
the west to the isthmus between it
and a large morass on the eastward.
The breadth of the emtrance is about
half a mile, but the navigable chan-
nel for vessels is only about 500 yards.
having {rom three to three and a
half fathoms of water. The north or
main shore, the whole length of the
harbour, is a clay bank from twelve
to twenty feet high, rising gradu-
ally behind, apparently good land and
fit for settlement. The water is
rather shcal near the shore, bhaving
but one fathom depth at one hun-
dred yards distance, two fathoms at
two hundred yards; and when I
sounded here, the waters of the lake |
were very high. There is good and safe
anchorage everywhere within the
barbour, being either a soft or sandy
! bottom. The south shore is composed
of a great number of sand bills and
ridges, interlaced with swamps and
small creeks. It is of unequal
breadths, being from a quarter of a
mile to a mile wide across
from the harbour to the lake
and runs im length to the
east five or six miles. Through the
middle of the isthmus before men-
tioned, or rather near the north
shore, is a channel with two
fathoms of water, and in the morass
there are other channels from one to
two fathoms deep. “From what has
been said,” Mr. Collins proceeds to
observe, “it will appear that the har-
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bour of Toronto is ecapacious, safe and l
we.l sheltered ; but the entrance being
from the westward is a great disad-
vantage to it, as the prevailing winds
are from that quarter, and as this
is a fair wind from hence down the
lake, of eourse it is that whieh ves-
s2ls in general would take their de-
parture from ; but they may frequent-
1y find it diffieult to get out of the
harbour. The shcalness of the north
shore, as before remarked, is also dis-
advantageous as to erecting wharfs,
quays, ete. “In regard to this place
as a military gost,” Mr. Collins re-
ports, “I do not see any very striking
features to recommend it in that |
view ; but the best situation to occupy
for the purpose of proteeting the set-
tlement and harbour would, I con-
ceive, be on the point and near the
entrance thereof.”

Under date of “Surveyor-General’s
Office (Quebec), 10th June, 1791,” Mr.
Collins, Deputy Surveyor-General, '
writes to DMr. Augustus Jones, an
eminent Deputy Provinecial Surveyor, |
that “his Excellency, Lord Dorehes- *
ter, has been pleased to order cne
thousand aeres of land to be laid out
at Toronto for Mr. Rocheblave, and |
for Captain Lajoree and for Captain
Bouehette, seven hundred acres each,
at the same place which please to lay
out aecordingly,” Mr. Collins says,
“and report the same to this office
with all eonvenient speed.”

On Holland’s great MS. map of the
Province of Quebee, made in 1791, and
preserved in the Crown Lands De-
partment of Ontario, the indentation
in front of the mouth of the modern
Humber River is entitled “Toronto
Bay” ; the sheet of water between the
peninsula and the mainland is not
named ; but the peninsula itself is:
marked ‘‘Presquisle, Toronto,” and
an extensive rectangular traet, !
bounded on the south by ‘“Toronto
Bay,” and the waters within the pen-
insula, is inseribed “Toronto.” Joseph
Bouchette made the first survey of!
Toronto harbour in 1703, by commana
of Governor Simcoe.

The territorial divisions of Upper
Canada since Governor Simeoe’s days
have been materially changed. The
first divisions were made by procla-
mation issued by Lord Dorchesten
Governor-General of Canada, under
authority of an Imperial statute. The
proeclamation was dated the 24th of
July ,1788, at which date the Consti-
tutional Aect had not been passed, and !
formed -a part of the Province of '

Quebee. The division thereby effeeted
was into four distriets named respec-
tively, Lunnenburgh, Mecklenburgh,
Nassau and Hesse. The only one of the
four which espeeially eoneerns this
article is the Distriet of Nassau, whieh
embraced a large traet of country, ex-
tending westward from the head of
the Bay of Quinte to a line cxtending
due north from the extreme projection
of Lonz Point ,on Lake Erie. It thus
included, among other land, the
whole of the present County ot York.
All these divisions were more or less
nominal, with little regard to exaet
limits. As the p-pulation was small
the necessity for minute and aceurate
boundary lines had not bccome pres=-
sing. When Governor Simeoe arrived
in July, 1792, he made a second terri-
torial division, dividing the prowvince
into nineteen eounties, one of which
was the County of York. The County
of York as then defined, extended
from the County of Durham westa

ward to the River Thames, then
called La Traanche. During the
first session of the First Parlia-

ment of Upper Canada, which closed
its sittings on the 15th of Octoker,
1792, an act was passed (32 Goo. 111,
cap 8), whereby the names of the four
districts set apart in 1788 were al-
tered to the Eastern, Midland, Home
and Western Distriets—the Home
District corresponding to the one
heretofore called Nassau.

Plan A. shows the township lots
from No. 1, 19,800 feet, or 8 3-4 miles

I east of the Don at the Scarboro’ and

York town line to No. 35 on the
west, 5,280 feet, or 1 mile cast of the
entrance to the Humber River, being
just about 200 feet east of the Queen
street entrance to High Park.

The township lots are eaeh 1,320 ft.,
or one quarter mile in width. =~ These
lots run from Queen (Lot) streei,
south to the water front. The Park
lots are eaeh 660 feet in widtlh, and
run through the full depth of the city.

Township lot No. 1 is known at the
present date (1903), as that portion of

. the county lying between the York

and Scarborough town line on the
east of Oik avenue on the west, and
the westerly half of it runs into the
Balmy Beach distriet.

Township lot No. 2 lies between
Oak avenue on the east and a point
200 feet east of Balsam avenue on the
west, being the east city limit, and
its whole front is cecupied by Balmy
Beach summer cottages.

Townshio lot No. 3 runs from tha
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i
easterly city limit to a point 1,320
feet west, and is owned and occupied
by the House of Providence. l

Township lot No. 4 extends from
Waverley road on the west to a point
1,320 feet east, joining the west limit
of lot 3, and is intersected by Lee |
avenue. The eastern portion of Kew |
Beach extends across its front, and i
this section is rapidly being built up |
with summer cottages. ‘

Township lot No. 5 extends from
Waverley road on the east to thei
cast side of Woodbine avenue on the |
west, and is intersected by Kenil-
worth and Kippendavie avenues.
Wosdbine avenue is a concession line.

Township lots Nos. 6 and 7 embrace
that portion of the city bounded on
the east by the west side of Wood-
bine avenue and on the west by the
west limit of Eastern avenue, where
it joins Queen street, and are cccu-
pied by the Woodbine race course and
Lotel.

Township lot No. 8 runs from the |
west limit of Eastern avenue to a
point 1,320 feet west.

Township lot No. 9 runs from a point
165 fect east of Knox avenue to a
point 1,320 feet east.

Township lot No. 10 is composed of
that section of the city bounded on
the east by a line 165 feet east of
Knox avenue, and on the west by the

east side of Ieslie street. Leslie
street is a concession line.
Township lot No. 11 extends from

the west side of Leslie street on the
east to Caroline avenue on the west,
and is almost wholly occupied by the
Leslie nurseries.

Township lot No. 12 extends from
the eastern limit of Caroline avenue l
oY the east to Carlaw avenue on the
west, and the north half is intersected
by Heward, Pape and Radcliffe
avenues.

Township lot No. 13 extends from
the centre line of Carlaw avenue on
the east to a point 117 feet east of
McGee street on the west. It is inter-
sected by Morse street and Logan
and Booth avenues.

Township lot No. 14 extends from a
point 117 feet east of McGee street on
the east to Broadview avenue on the
west, and is intersected by McGee,
Strange, Saulter and Lewis streets,
and the west part of the south half
is occupied by the Gooderham byres
and cattle yards.

Township lot No.

15 extends from

Broadview avenue (formerly Scadding
street) on the east to a point about
100 feet west of the Don channel on
Queen street, which is the end of an-
other concession. This lot is taken
up almost entirely by the old John
Smith estate, and the old Ball Grounds
occupy the easterly portion of it.
Township lot No. 16 extends from
a point about 100 feet west of the
Don channel on the east to the west
side of Bright street (a small street
west of Sumach street) on the west.

Township lot No. 17, Jeing park
lots 1 and 2, extends from the west
limit of Bright street on the east to
the west limit of Parliament street
on the west, and the front of it is
occupied by the Gooderham & Worts
distilleries and the Consumers’ Gas
Company’s works.

Township lot No. 18, being park
lots 3 and 4. extends from the west
limit of Parliament street on the

‘east to the centre line of Sherbourne

street on the west, and its front is
occupied by the Rogers Coal Com-
pany’'s wharf, the old sugar refinery,
and other wharves. =

Township lot No. 1¢¢ being park
lots 5 and 6, extends from the centre
line of Sherbourne street on the east
to the cenire line of Mutual street
produced on the west. The Polson
Iron Works occupy 2 portion of the
front of this lot, and the St. Lawrence
Market stands immediately east of its

; west limit. &

Township lot No. 20, being park
lots 7 and 8, extends from the centre
line of Mutual street on the east to
the east limit of Yonge street on the:
west, Yonge street being a conces-
sion line. This lot now forms part of
the best business section of the city.
The King Edward Hotel stands just
west of the centre line. The east cor-
ners of Yonge and King street are
on the west limit, and its front is
occupied by the Yonge street, Electric
Light, and other wharves. )

Township 1ot No. 21, being park
lots 9 and 10, extends from the west
limit of Yonge street on the east to
the east side of Chestnut street pro-
duced on the west, and is composed
of the most valuable section of the
city. The City Huall faces it on the
north. and .some of the city’s finest
buildings, such as the Foresters’
Temple, Canada Life, Queen’s Hotel,
Rossin House, etc., stand on this lot.

Township lot No. 22, - being park lots
11 and 12, extends from the east line
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of Chestnut street, prcduced on thel
east to a point 9) feet east of Dun-
can strecet, produced on the west. The
Government House and Union Station
stand on this lot, and at its south
end are to be found the homes of the
three principal boating clubs, the
Royal Canadian Yacht Club, Toronto
Canoe Club and Argonaut Rowing
Club.

Township lot No. 23, being park lots
13 and 14, extends from a point 90
feet east of Duncan street on the east
to a point 110 feet west of Peter
street on the west, and the south
part of it is occupied by the Water-
works pumping station.

Township lot No. 24, being park lots
15 and 16, extends from a point 110
feet west of Peter street on the east
to the east limit of Brant street on
the west, and can best be recognized
from the water fromt through the
fact that it contains within its limits
both the Grand Trunk and Northern
cievators and Brock street wharf.

Township lot No. 25, being park lots
17 and 18, extends from the east limit
of Brant street on the east to the|
east limit of Bathurst street on the
west, Bathurst street being a conces- |
sion line. The principal place of im- !
portance on this lot is the Bertram '
shipbuilding and Engine Works, '
which are situated on the water front !
near the west limit of the lot. !

Township lot No. 26, being park !
lots 19 and 20, extends from the west !
limit of Bathurst strcet on the east
to the west line of Manning avenue,
produced on the west. The south
portion is noted as being the site of :
the Old Fort, and for the fact that :
the Queen’s wharf and western en-'

trance to the harbour are located
there. i
Township lot No. 27, being park

lots 21 and 22, extends from the west
limit of Manning on the east to a
point 120 feet west of Strachan av-
enue on the west. The principal por-
tion of this lot is occupied by Stanley
Park and the Cattle Market.

Township lot No. 28, being park
lots 23 and 24, extends from a point
120 feet west of Strachan avenue on
the east to the east line of Dundas
street produced on the west. This
lot is almost wholly occupied by the
Massey Harris Co., the Central Pri-
son, and the greater portion of
Stanley Barraecks and Garrison Com-:
mon. The east half of the Asylum
for the Insane also stands on this
lot.

Township lot No. 29, being park
lots 25 and 26, extends from the east
limit of Dundas street on the east
to the centre line of Lisgar street
on the west. The east half of the
Exhibition grounds, the west half of
Asylum and a small portion of Stan-
ley Barracks occupy the greater part
of lot 29.

Township lot No. 30, being park
lots 27 and 28, extends from the ven-
tre line of Lisgar street on the cast,
to the east limit of Dufferin street
on the west, Dufferin street being a
concession line. The west half of the
Exhibition grounds occupy the whole
front of this lot.

Township lot No. 81, being park
lots 29 and 30, extends from the west
side of Dufferin street on the east,
to a point 110 feet west of Cowan
avenue on the west, and forms the
east part of that fashionable resi-
dential locality known as South Park-
dale. .

Township lot No. 32, being park lots
31 and 32, extends from a point 110
feet west of Cowan avenue on the
east to the east limit of Springhurst
avenue on the west, and also forms
a pertion of South Parkdale.

Township lot No. 33 extends from
the east limit of Springhurst avenue
on the east to the east limit of Tril-

| ler avenue om the west.

Township lot No. 34 extends from
the east limit of Triller avenue cn
the east to the centre line of Sunny-
side avenue produced on the west, at
the site of the old Parkdale pumping
station, now used for a public swim-
ming bath.

Township 1ot No. 35 cxtends from
the centre line of Sunnyside avenue
produced, on the east, to the west
line of Keeler street produced, on the
west, and its front is occupied by the
Sunnyside boat houses and club hiouses.
The Roman Catholic Saered Heart
Orphanage and the McDonnell Roll-
ing Mills occupy the north portions.

‘I'he parallel line on the north side
of the township lots was “Lot,” now
Queen street.

The site of “Toronto Fort,” known
now as Fort Rouille, and used as the
York Picneers’ Museum in the Exhi-
bition Grounds, was at the south end
of township lot No. 31, just to the
east of the point where Dutferin
street now enters the lake.

The Garrison Creek, east of the Old
Fort, ran diagonally from the nortk
of lot No. 26, entering the bay at the
line between lots No. 25 and 26. The
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present Old Fort lies at the southend !
of lots 26 amid 27.

The creeks shown cm lots 29 and
3(), east of Dufferin street, are now
occupied by Jefferson, Pacific and
Atlantic avenues. A creek is shown |
as running south fram the north end |
of lot 23. This was ihe creek which
ran from a point in the fields north
and west of Spadina avenue and
Bloor street and came in a south-
easterly direction: across Beverley
street and through Queen street a
few yards west of the N. W. corper
of Jchn street, and thence through

the Macdonald property on Jobn
street into the TU. C. C. College
grounds, crossing King street and

finding its exit through the Govern-
ment House and Parliament grounds
to Front street and the bay shore.
It was known as Russell’s Creek.

This is the first plan of York, which
shows a spit of samd running south
from the south end of lot 23 into the
bay, ending at the letter “b” in “Har-
bour.”

The creeks shown at the north end
of lot 20 are not shown on later maps,
nor does there secem to be any record
of there having been a creck on this
lot, but on a plan of the ¢ity made in
1851 by Sandford Fleming, land sur-
veyor, from actual surveys by J.
Stoughton Dennis, a ecreek is shown
as having its commencement south of
Bloor street, between Yonge street
and Church street, and running in a
sgutheasterly direction, crossing Carl-
ton street, just west of Church street,
and Church street at Gould street;
thence across Jarvis and George
streets above Shuter street, and down
through the property of the late Hon.
George W. Allan (now Moss Park rink)
across Queen street just west of Sher-
bourne street, emptying into the bay
just west of the south end of Parlia-
ment street. This would take the
creek down through lot 19 instead of
20.

At the south end of lot 18, near the
Don, is shown the spit of sand run-
ning south to a point where a gap is
indicated and aeross the gap a spit
of sand running north from the Pen-
insula.

This was the east end of Toronto
Bay. It is the first plan on which
this gap is shown. It could not have
been more than a few feet wide for
in plan B the opposite points are much
closer and the depth of water about
three feet.

This plan A shows the River Humber,

originally known as “Toronto River,”
and also “St. John’s River,” but is not
quite correct in placing it, as the River
Humber does not empty into the lake
immediately to the west of lot 35, as
shown on the plan, but near the west
limit of lot 40, a mile farther west.

The west entrance of the harbour
was wider than that of to-day, ‘but
plaa A was mnot carefully drawn, for
the point ran further north and east,
fs shown in plan B

This plan was drawn before the
island point was called “Gibraltar
Point,” for the site of Simecoe’s block-
house and storehouses is not marked.

The “long beach of about 448 chains,”
or 29,568 feet, or five miles and 3,168
feet is shown as an island, but it was
a peninsula, as shown by plan B, and
joined the mainland at township lot
No. 6, be#ing directly at the foot of
Woodbine avenue.

The “River Don” is given in the Ga-
zetter as “in the east riding of the
county of York, discharges itself into
York Harbour.”

The second plan is a more satisfac-
tory one. as it is drawn to a scale
and is accurate.

Commencing at the west, the Garri-
son Creek is shown as in plan A, but
the spit of sand running into the bay
is not shown south of township lot
No. 23. The “long” beach in plan A
is called the ‘“Sandy Beach,” and
properly joins the mainland at town-
ship lot No. 6.

The Don River is not marked in
words, but is indicated at township
lot 15. This plan B, as in plan A,
apparently shows the Don mouth as
east of the spit of sand running from
the corner of lot 16, really emptying
in Ashbridge’s Bay. This spit or bar
of sand must have been about level
with the water, for all records show
that the silt from the Don found its
way, as it does to-day, into the bay.
At the gap at the south end of this
bar is shown on the west side nine
feet and on the east three feet of
water. Probably the depth of the
gap was two or three feet.

The plan B does not indicate the
west and north point, where the
measurement of the 448 chains be-
gins, although the east point was
evidently at Township lot No. 6.

As however the length of the island
to-day from Hanlan’s to township lot
No. 6 would be about seven miles the
“448 chains” would count from the
point where The Lakeside Home for
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Little Children stands to-day, which'

is just about 448 chains from south
limit of township lot No. 6.

Hanlan’s Point was originally “Gib-
ralter Point,” called so by Governor
Simcoe from the similarity of its
situation to Gibraltar, which com-
mands the entrance to the Mediter-
ranean Sea. (i

Smyth’s Gazettcer of 1813 says that
this point “is the western extremity
of a sand bank, which forms the
Harbour of York, and upon which
blockhouses are erected for its de-
fence.”

There was from 1795-1818 one block-
house at the point south of the fig-
ure “11” on the plan B, and about
500 feet south of this blockhouse
were a couple of storehouses on the
blockhouse bay shore, or rather the
east shore of the Gibraltar Point.

The blockhouse itself stood on the
site of the water-works crib, north
of the prescut ferry dock at Han-
lzn’s. and 18 now surrounded by water.
The kar at this point is about two
hundred feet west of where It was
a hundred years ago. It had more
of a turn at its north poiat into
the bay, as shown in plan B.

Plan B, as well as plan A, was there-
fore made beforc the vuilding of the
blockhouse and thc storehouses.

When plan B was drawn the west
spit of sand was 1n the plan. There

{

was no sandbar, as to-day, extending |

north from Gibraliar Point to the !

Gueen’s wharf entrance; and the
depih of water from the Point to tha
Queen’s wharf was near the north end
of the Point 3, 6 18, 18 and 12 feet,
lessening to 9 feet within a short
distance of the bay shore.

The plan also shows the distance
from the Old Fort Toronto to a point
on the peninsula about opposite The
Lakeside Home for Little Children,
namely, “S. 56 degrees E. 131 ch.”
which means that from the foot of
Dufferin street to a point on the
west Island shore opposite The Lake-
side Home is a distance of 8,646 feet,
or a trifle under one mile and two-
thirds.

Another measurement is shown
from the same point on the penin-
sula to the south end of township
lot Z6. namely, “S. 14 degrees, 30 E.,
117 c¢h.,” which means that in a
straight line from the east limit of
lot 26 the distance is 117 chains, which,
at 66 feet to the chain, makes a shade
over one mile and two-fifths.

As early as 1855 the depth of water
from Gibraltar Point to the present
Queen’s wharf channel was from 2
to 3 feet, and U. C. College boys
camping on the peninsula, frequent-
ly when bathing walked on the sandy
bottom across to the south side of
the Queen’s wharf channel.

There has been for fifty years a
gradual formation of a bar of sand
500 feet west of the present western
stretch of sand, but from the Light-
house Point to opposite about No.
600 on Hanlan’s Point, it has never
topped the water owing to the cur-
rent, but this bar has not more than
four or five feet of water over it.
North of No. 664, Hanlan’s Point, the
bar rises over the water level and
has created the western bar on which
the Turner Baths are situated, form-
ing the west side of a large lagoon.
This bar now extends across the bay
to the south crib work of the Queen’s
wharf channel.

The spit of sand which runs from
the east of township lot 17 apparent-
ly cut off the flow of water from
the Don to the Bay, but the Don
flowed directly south turning to the
west and emptying into the bay at
the gap shown in the spit of sand.
We know! that some years later there
was a small bridge for foot passen-
gers over this gap. When people,
however, drove over to the peninsula
in early days they went down the
roadway to township lot No. 6, and
drove along the ‘“sandy beach of
448 chains.” They did not drive along
the spit of sand that bounds the
marsh on its western side at south
of lots 16 and 17. .

The depth of water in the bay is
of interest, no part shows more than
6 fathoms, or 36 feet. In shore, pro-
bably to the present windmill line,
the depth was from 6 to 9 feet. The
western channel, that used by ves-
sels from 1792 till 1834, when the
King’s, now known as the Queen’s,
wharf was built, shows 12 feet. The
wharf was built under a commission
appointed by the Legislature of Up-
per (Qanada, oconsisting of W. Chis-
holm, J. G. Chewett and Hugh Rich-
ardson, at a cost of $10,000. It was
afterwards extended 200 feet wester-
ly by the Harbour Commissioners in
1853. Further extensions and repairs
were made from time to time to the
amount of $20,376.37 to end of 1897. The
western channel is now 14 feet. South
of the vessel track the depth was
18 feet till nearly the east end of
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that line, when it reached 36 feet.
The figures, however, indicate the
depth without further explanation.
But it is remarkable that ecast of
Gibraltar Point, (Hanlan’s), the wa-
ter was 30 and 36 feet and that all
of that part of the bay 500 feet out
from the peninsula bay shore shows
a depth of 36 feet north of the ves-
sel line and continues to the east end
of the bay. It must be remembered
that the entire city front had just a
sandy beach. There was no esplanade
—no windmill line—a long, sandy

shore, with the water gradually deep- |

ening from the shore outwards into
the bay. In rear of the old CityHall,
at the foot of West Market street,
there were aeres of marsh, and an old
chronicle states that the spot was an
ideal one for duck shooting.

The sand bar from Gibraltar Point
to tcavnship lot No. 6 was a penin-
sula from beyond the memory of even
the men of 1792 until 1854-5, when the

shore-bound waters of the lake rush- |

ed across the sand bar east of Pri-
vat’s Hotel, which stood on the site
of the present eastern channel.

The Eastern Gap in Toronto Island
was caused between the 1st and 10th
of February, 1853. In a letter from
Kivas Tully, dated February 10, 1853,
he draws attention to the fact of its
existence. On January 1st, 1854, the
Harbour  Master, Captain Hugh
Richardsoa, alludes to this gap, say-
ing: "It is about 140 feet wide and of
scarecely twelve months’ duration.”
In another letter from Kivas Tully,
dated December 31st, 1866, the writer
remarks, speaking of the gap: “In
February, 1853, the breach first oc-
curred.” The first steam vessel which
passed through the gap was the Bow-
manville in the summer of 1855.

As to the exact date of the opening
of the Hastern Gap the {following
letter, written in February, 1853,
will be of interest as it is from the
pen of Mr. Kivas Tully, the engineer
who had charge of the harbour work
at that period. He writes to the
Patriot, a paper published in To-
ronto, on the subject, and says:

“I examined this channel oa the
8th inst. Tt is about fifty yards wide
and three feet in depth with a cur-
rent of about #wo miles an hour run-
ning through it in a south-easterly
direction, the wind blowing strong
at the time from the S.S.W. The
current was quite sufficient to keep

| the channel clear of the sand which
was washing into the entrance with
the action of the waves which were
| pretty high at the time.”

The writer of this Landmark (Mr.
| J. Ro3s Robertson) has a distinct
recollection of the rush of water over
the peninsula at the point now the
eastern entrance. To the best of his
‘reco‘ilection the water first washed
over in the autumn of 1852, the cut
"being a few thundred yards east of
Privat’s Hotel (Vol. 2, p. 762, Land-
marks of Toronto) and not more at
that time than 20 feet in width.

|  The peninsula, or rather Island,
has materially chanzed in a hundred
years. The plan C shows the change.
On the west side there are a couple
' of bars wumder water 500 feet from
| the shiore, amd at the east end the

Island has extended south into the

lake. The bay east of the Dom has
| also been changed by tbe cuttings
" known as Sbiclds’ and Keating’s cuts,
and in fact the whiole Island presents
| a much different appearance to-day

from that of the sandy beach shown

{in plan B. Commencing at the west
point the change is very marked, in-
stead of a marrow sandy point al-
| most utterly devoid of vegetation,
;thxare is now & large park, covering
about ten acres of ground, planted
with shade trees amd covered with
beautiful green sod. On the new land,
which was reclaimed from the waters
of the bay in the year 1894, and svhich
extends to within 4,600 feet, or seven-
eighths of a mile in_a direct line
from the foot of Spadina avenue, is
large athletic ground, a fine sum-
mer hotel, large pavilions, and every-
thing necessary tc the equpment of
a successful summer resort.

The sandbar to the west of Han-
lan’s Point, on which the Turner
baths are situated, and which ex-
tends north, to the south ecribwork
of the western gap, was not thought
af at the time plan B was made, but
.is now a wide, and in most places,
|dry bar, on which during the sum-
| mer moaths many families pitch
{their tents and enjoy the cool breezes
I o? the lake.

During the last decade, however,
. the lake has made serious encroach-
" ments on the west bank of this sand-
i bar, and since the summer of 1897 to
!the present summer (1903), by actual
measurements, there has been over
fifty feet of the west shore washed
away by the lheavy seas which are

T Y TR
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rolled in at this point by

south-west storm.

The sand thus carried away along
with other sand washed up by the
waves is rapidly forming a new bar
ahout 200 yards to the west of the
present one, and it is expected, if the
formation continues at as rapid a
rate, that another ten years will see
a new sandbar extending from the
mainland to the extreme west end of
the south pier of the western channel.

This bar has been forming for
years past, but it was only two years
ago that it first appeared above the
water at a point on the west shore
opposite house No. 628. Since that
time it has rapidly increased, form-
ing a new lagoon about 1,700 feet
long. Opposite the Turner baths the
depth of water over this bar is at
the present time only about 30 inches,
and the water this year is over a
foot higher than it has been for
years past.

As you pass along the Island
change becomes still more apparent.
Where once was a waste of sand,
with here and there clumps of wil-

every

|
!

have been made, and; indeed it is here
that the greatest change is seen.
Thousands of tons of earth have been
carried over from the city and over
100 acres of land have been reclaimed,

sodded, planted with willows, elms
and maples; pavilions have been
erected, benches provided, and the

result is one of the finest public parks

'to be found in America.

East from Island Park to the east-
ern channel there has been the least
change. 'With the exception of the
breakwater, built by the Government

' to protect the entrance to the har-

bour, nature has been allowed to take
her course unassisted, and the result
is not unpleasant. Ward’s Island,
while small, is one of the prettiest
portions of the Island, and with a
little cultivation, combined with its
natural advantages, could be turned
into a fine park.

From the east side of the eastern
channel to where the sandbar joins
the; mainland at township lot 6, there

the | hag heen very little change. The sand-

bar still joins the mainland at town-
ship lot 6, and runs in an irregular
line to the south-west, joining the

lows and stunted poplars, iS DOW a |aagtern pier of the eastern channel

summer home for upwards of 2,000 | jpout 3,000 feet west of

people. The ground has been culti-
vated and top-dressed and every-
where are to be seen green lawns and
pretty summer cottages. Opposite
the point on the west shore where
the lines of measurement meet, as
shown in plan B, but some distance
back from the shore, stands The Lake-
side Home, and between it and the
point there are sixty houses, not
counting the large hotel and the
restaurants.

The short points which are shown
on plan B running out into Block
House Bay from the north shore to
the Island have grown to the north-
ward and formed a number of small
islands interlaced by small channels
and lagoons, accessable for small
boats and canoces.

Wiest of The Lakeside Home are the |
pumping station, which supplies the !

Island with city water, the Public
school, which is now open the year
round, and the lighthouse. From this
point to the east end of the Island
there are 154 houses, 76 of which are
on the Lake Front and 78 on the
eleven streets which run north from
the Lake Front.

At Centre Island during the last
thirty years great improvements

Woodbine
avenue. A cut known as Shield’s cut,
of about 259 feet in width, has been
made through the bar connecting the
waters of Ashbridge’s Bay and the
lake, and the current of water which
flows through this cut from Toronto
bay by way of Keatings cut haa
greatly improved Ashbridge’s Bay.

Keating’s Cut is a cut 4,000 feet in
length, running from the north-east
corner of Toronto bay through the
marsh to the east into Ashbridge’s
Bay. The portion of the sandbar lying
between Woodbine avenue and
Shield’s Cut contains 80 acres, and is
known as Woodbine Park. The portion
td the west of Shield’s Cut, and run-
ning to the eastern channel, contains
180 acres and is known as Simecoe
Park. The west 1,500 feet of Simcce
Park is now occupied by a number
of fine summer cottages, and the re-
mainder of both parks is used during
the summer by campers.

Plan C shows the town of York ana
surrotndings on April 27th, 1813. The
reference explains th2 principal points
marked by letters.

1t i1¢ interesting to note where these
various points are in the city of to-
day. Th~ point marked “A” denotes
the moath of the [fumber River, which
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YORK (TORONTO) IN THE WAR OF 1812.
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is not greatly changed sinee the mak-
ing of this map. .
Th: pownt *‘B,” where the Americans
{anded, 15 on the lake shore, opposite
the south end of Sunnyside avenne.
and 1s now occupied by the old Park-
dale pumping station.
Th: point “C,” noted

atterwards known as fust Fort To-
ronto, at tha foot of Dufferin street.

The point -1, the site of the West-
ern Battery, 1s on the lake shore,
aboul opposite Stracian avenae.

Th2 point “E,”
moon Battery. is just {o the west of
th> Garrison Crcek sewer.

Th: Garrison Gardens, marked “F,”
extended from the foot of Bathurst
street west 10 a point opposite
Strachan avenue.

The Government House, garrison and
magazine, marked on the plwn “GG,»
were at the west side of the south
enl of Bithurst street, and the ruins
of the fort and garrison buildings
may still be seen.

The point indicated by the letters
“IIIL” as the place where the ships
and stores were burned by the British,
is about oppusite the foot of John

as the old |
Fuaench fort, 1s the site of Ifori{ Rouille, |

|

{

the site of the Hulf-“

| up of the whole,

street, near the water-works pump- '

ing station.
The husiness part of York in 1812,
as shown by the shading, was in the

section bounded at preseni by 13:rke-

ley, George, Front and Duke streets.

The Parliament Bulldings of the
time of 1812 are not
pian, but stood just to the east of the

sbown on this |

south pertion of the business distriet. |

Th:se builiings were destioyvad by the
Americans during thz war of 1812, but
were atrterwards rebuilt by Sir Pere-
grine Maitland, 1818-20.

The Island had changed conslderably
during the two decades from 1792 to
1812, and was at the date of this map
in many parts very similar in appear-
ance to what it is to-day.

CHAPTER XIV.
PRESS OF THE OLDEN TIME.

Used a Hundred Years Ago, Owned

by Four Men Who in Their Day
were “King’s” Then “Queen’s”
Printers.

In cne of the windows of the press
room of The Evening Telegram build-
ing on DMelinda street, Toronto, may

be seen a unique piece of mechanism,
built of wood, iron and stone. It is
neither attractive nor interestingin
appearance. Indeed, the eye of an
ordinary mechanic would take no stock
in it. He would probably glance at
it with as little concern as a farmer
would at an oid-time plougb or thresh-
ing machine, whieh pioneer toilers
looked upon as slick inventions, given
to them by Providence as an aid te
wealth. Yet the machine has the ap-
pearance of a tool ingeniously wrought
by the hand of some long-ago ar-
tizan who flourished when the cen-
tury was young and the market
rather short in 1ts stock of mechaniecal
knowledge. Nevertheless, this three-
fo!d combination of wood, iron and
c¢tone had been put together for the
use of generations to come. Its
wooden parts must have been dress-
od by the plane of a pioneer carpen-
ter, for strength was_ evidently his
first consideration, beauty his second.
The iron that counted in the make-
if not of modern
finish, was, at least, well placed;
while a squared slab of stone from
the quarry ledge completes an equip-
ment that is as alive to-day as when
tooled by the mallet and chisel of
the raason-worker that has long sinee
ceased to labour. But this primi-
tive pizce of mechanism did good work
in its day, and, by the same token, its
best day was a lively one. It has
done its duty in the reigns of four
sovereigns (George III. George IV.,
Wi liam IV., and Victoria)—and prob-
ably ecarned a good income for
its owners—and was {he mechanism
through which they gave to the peo-
ple of Upper Canada the official man-
dates penned by colonial secretaries,
who carried out the directions of
Downing street from the days when
George the Third was Kking.

An ordinary six by four box would
easily hold it when packed—and doubt-
less did. Afcer it had left the little
machine shop of the mechanic whose
knowledge has made wealth for many,
it travelled miles and miles, years
before rails, ties, cars or locomotives
were in evidence, and it settled fin-
ally in a spot which a ecentury ago
was mud and marsh, now a busy hive
of men and commerce. )

This piece of mechanism is a print-
ing press—a pioncer machine—one
that did service in the last years
(1798) of tke eighteenth century in
old Niagara, and in the opening years
of the nineteenth century (1801) in
the little town of York.
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The machine was used to print the
Upper Canada Gazette or American
Oracle, the official paper of the Pro-
vince of Upper Canada, which in
later years was succeeded by the
Ontario Gazette.

The age of this press is unknown,
but as it is a two-pull machine, with
a stone bed, Mr. Hoe, of the firm

of Messrs. R. Hoe & Co., of New York,
the best authority on presses in the
wcéxbld, thinks it was built prior to
1780.

In the year 1456 Guteaberg printed

THE HAND PRESS

nis first book from movable types.
His printing press consisted of two
upright timbers, with crouss pieces of
wood to stay them together at the
top and bottom. There vrere also 1n-
termediate cross timbers, one of which
supported the flat bed ugon which the
type was placed, and through another
a wooden screw paseed its lower
point, resting on the centre of a
wooden platen, whizh s thus screw-
ed down upon the tyje. Alter Inking
the form. of typs with a ball of leather
stuffed with ol the printer spread

a sheet of paper over it, laying a
prece of blanket on the paper to
soften the impression of the platen
and remove irregularities. This was
the press which Gutenberg used, and
the mechanical principle embodied in
it is found in the old cheese and linen
presses of the middle ages. The simple
form of wooden press, worked with
a screw by means of a movable bar
or lever, continued in use for about
one hundred and fifty years. 1In the
early part of the seventeenth century
there was a change. The forms of

OF OLD NIAGARA.

type were placed upon the same wood,
and sometimes, as in the old press In
The Telegram office, in stone beds
encased in frames called ‘“coffins,”
moved in and out laboriously by hand.
After each impression the platen had
to be screwed up with the bar, so
that the paper, which had been print-
ed upon it, might be removed and
hung up to dry.

The first improvements weare nmade
in 1620 by William Jensen Blaew, a
printer of Amsierdam. They consist-
ed in passing the spindle of th: screw
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through a square block, which was | iron hand lever for turning the screw.
guided in the wooden frame, and from Blaew’s press was used on the contin-
fhis block the platen was suspended | ent and was u}troduced into England.
by wire or cords, the block or box | It is substantially the same as that
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PRINTING PRESS OF 1512,

preventing any twist in the platen, yused by Benjamin Franklin, when a
and ensuring a more equal motion | journeyman in London, early last cen:

to the screw. He also placad a device | tury. The presses up to about 1793
upon the press for rolling in and out | were practically of the Blaew pat-
the bed, and added a new form of |tern, and that in The Telegram press
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room answers fairly well to the de=
seription given of them.

In 179¢ the Earl of Stanhope im-
proved the hand-press. Instead of a
wooden frame he contrived one with
a frame made of one piece of cast-
iton. Stanhope reserved the screw,
but added a combinafion of levers
to assist the pressman jn gainiag
greater power when giving the im=
pression. These machines were cums-
bersome. They were the first iron
presses made. The new idea of the
combination of levers to increase the
power induced printers to placa them
on wooden presses, and, as the old
presses could not stand the strain,
they were soon wrecked and in pieces.
The iron platen had been used, how=
ever, years before on woodz2n pressos.

Some time aboui 1790 a meehanie,
who had emigrated from Edinburgh,
named ‘Adam Ramage, made presses
in Philadelphia, somewhat after the
Blaew patttern, part wood and part
iron, with iron beds and, the lever
combination, the serew not being usad.

In 1816 George Clymer, of Philadel«
phia, devised an iron maehine without
the screw. In this press a long heavy
cast-iron lever was placed ovar the
platen, one end attached to one of
the uprights of the cast-iron frame,

and the other susceptible of being !

raised and lowered by a combination
of smaller levers, worked by the
rressman, after the manner of the
ordinary hand-press. The impression
was given and the platen raised and

the sides hollowed for the admission
of wrought-iron bars, which ware
securely rivetted at the top and bots
tom of the casting. This gave not
only additional strenglh, but graatly
diminished the amount of metal used
in the construction. The new invens
tion was known as the “Washington”
press, made by Ho: & Co., and in
prineiple and construetion has never
been surpassed by any hand-printing
machine. They are manufactured and

| sold at the present time, althongh

lowered by a spindle or pin attached |

to the centre of the large cross-lever
at the top, this being properly bal-
anced, to facilitate its being raised
with greater ease. Clymer carried
his invention to England, where 1t
was known as the “Columbian” press.
In England there were iron hand-
presses made by Ruthevan, by Rrown
and by others, all of whom more or
less improved upon the Stanhope.
in 1522
conneeted with the firm of R. Hoe
& Co., in New York, devised a machine

Peter Smith, an Amenecan,

which was in many respeets superior |

to anything up to that time.

The |

frame was of cast-iron, and, in place !

of the serew wilh levers, he substi<
tuted a toggle joint at once simple
and effective.

In 1827 Samuel Rust, of New York,
perfecied an invention which was a
great improvement on the Smith
press. The frame, instead of being
all of cast-iron, had the uprights at

the cylinder press has almost entirely
superseded them.

The following is a description of the
Washington press: The bed slides on
a traek, and is run in and out from
under the platen by turning a erank
whieh has belts attaehed to a pulley
upen its shaft. The impression of the
platen is given by means of a bent
lever acting on a toggle joint, and
the platen is lifted by springs on
either side. Attached to the bed is
a “tympan” frame, covered with cloth,
and standing inclined, to receive the
sheet to be printed. Another frame,
called the “frisket,” is attached to the
tympan and eovered with a sheet of
paper, having the parts that would
be printed upon cut away, so as ‘to
prevent the ‘“chase’ and ‘“furniture”
from blacking or soiling the sheet. The
frisket is turned down over the sheet
and tympan, and all are folded down
when the impression is taken. Auto-
matiec inking rollers are attachsd to
this mmachine, operated by a weizht
raised by the pull of the pressman,
the deseent of the weight drawing the
roller over the type and returning it
to the inking table while the pressman
places another sheet upon the tympan.
Improvements in the inking apparatus
were afterwards made, in whieh the
distribution of the ink on the rollers
was effected by means of steam power,
which ulso caused the inking rollers
to move forward over the type at the
will of the pressman. The bed and
platen system of printing was, up to
the middle of the last eentury, the
favourite method of printing fine
books and ecuts.

When Benjamin Franklin worked in
London it was on one of the Guten-
berg presses whieh had been improved
by Blaew.

Benjamin Franklin worked in ILon-

~don as a journeyman in 1725-6. The

identical press on which he worked
was for many years at the printing
office of Messrs. Heaton & Mitehell,
Duke street, Liverpool. Later it passed
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into the possession of Mr. John B. { press afterwards became the property
Murray, of New York. of its second owner, Mr. John Ben-

From 1800-25 many improvements | nett, King’s Printer, and the Upper
were made in the hand press of the | Canada Gazette of 1800-12 was printed
preceding century. on it. Mr. Bennett’s office was in “the

The old press in The Telegram press | house of Mr. J. Cameron, King street,’
room was in use in Niagara in 1798 | in York. This is supposed to have been
and was brought to York (Toronto) | near the corner of Caroline (Sher-
by its first owners Waters & Symons, ] bourne) and King streets. The exao*
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who were the King’s (George III.)[site is unknown, but in 1812 Mr.

Printers, in December, 1799, and the
nger Canada Official Gazette or Am- (
erican O_racle for 1800 was printed at |east corner of Bay and Market (Wel-
their office. The location of this estab- | lington) streets, the present site of
lishment is not known, but it is be- ! the Wyld, Darling Co.’s warehouse.
lieved to have been near the corner | The press was afterwards purchased
of Front and Frederick streets. The | by Mr. R. C. Horne, its third ownec,

Cameron’s printicg office was in the
Andrew Mercer cottage on the south-
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who succeeded Bennett as King'’s
Printer about 1817, and was used by
him until 1822, in the reign of George
IV., for printing the Upper Canada
Gazette. His office was on the west
side of Caroline (Sherbourne) street,
at the south-west corner of Britain
street. It was a long, one-storey frame
structure, with a frontage of about
sixty feet. His residence was in York-
ville, on the east side of Yonge street,
in from the roadway and close to the
tollgate, which stood about opposite
to the present St. Paul’'s Hall. The
house was burned by the rebels in 1837.

The whereabouts of the press from
1822-27 are unknown. When Charles
Fothergill was King’s Printer his
presses and type were destroyed by a
number of misguided young residents
of York. About 1826, when Robert
Stanton was the King’s Printer, he
became the fourth owner and the press
was located ir his office.

This was a frame building which
stood on King street west, on the site
of the John Kay Co’s present build-
ing. In 1830, (William IV.), the old
frame building was used as a print-
ing oifice and residence. Mr. Somer-
ville, who worked with Stanton, lived
upstairs, and Mr. James Watson,
whose life was lost in the St. James’
cathedral fire of 1849, lived in a small
cottage in the rear, the entrance be-
ing “through an archway’ at the west
end of the office. The late Mrs. Nicho-
las Strange, a second-hand clothes
dealer, Mrs. Honoria Flinn, provision
dealer, the late Mr. Charles March,
painter, and his brother, Mr. Peter
March, a portrait painter of con-
siderable repute, the late Mr. Charles
Brown, livery stable keeper, and Mr.
William Dever, all occupied the build-
mg. Mr. Stanton was there in 1837.
Some years afterwards he was made
Collector of Customs. This was in the
early days of Queen Victoria’s reign.

The fifth owner of the old press was
Mr. William Stephens, an old Toronto
printer, to whom it was sold in 1843,
He had an office at King street west,
the next door east of the Stanton
b.uilding, and at 25 Bay street, west
side, site of the Toronto Engraving
Company, and used the press for print-
ing small bills until 1850, For years
it stood in the office and was scarcely
ever used, but in 1859 it was sold to
its sixth owner, the late Mr. Thomas
Hill, of the Caxton Press, but was
worked occasionally until about 1863.
It remained in his possession until his

| a9

death, when it became the property
of “The Evening Telegram.”

This old press printed a sheet of two
sizes, one 16x10, the other 10x8. Less
than one hundred sheets per hour was
its limit, The Hoe quadruple press in
the east end of The Telegram press
room prints of the 20x16 sheet about
400,000 per hour. A 16 page “Tele-
gram” is equal to a little more than
32 sheets similar to those printed on
the old press.

CHAPTER XV.
PLAN OF THE MILITARY RESERVE

An Old Plan of Sixty-six Years Ago,
and a Note of Changes Made in
Some of the Principal Streets.

This is a plan of the land origin-
ally held for a military reserve by
the Government, but which was laid
out for building purposes in 1837 by
Wm. Hawkins, a deputy surveyor, by
order of Sir Francis B. Head, Lieut.-
Governor of Upper Canada. At the
time this plan was laid out the Gov-
ernment reserved for military pur-
poses the square shown on the plan
on the south side of Front street, be-
tween Brock street and Peter street,
and marked military reserve, but the
city was granted a license of occu-
pation of this block about the year
1852. However, the whole of the lands

. shown on this plan form the original

military reserve, and. the original
plan, dated February 26th, 1837, iws
certified as “approved and ordered to
bes the plan on which all deeds, grants
or locations are to be founded after
the date hereof,” and all deeds of the
present day are described according
to this plan, excepting where some
portion of it has been amended by a
later plan. The original plan spoken
of means the original of which this
plan is a copy.

‘While the military reserve is shown
as ending at the line of Peter street
prolonged to the bay shore, the land
east as far as John street and south
of Front street was oecupied by the
military, for a guardhouse was on
tbe top bank at the south end of
John street up to about 1855, and a
military storehouse is shown in pic-
tures of 1859, of that part of the
water front on the shore south of
John street.

“Ontario Terrace,” which was ‘“re-
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served for the public as a promenade
and pleasure ground,” never haa an
actual existence. It was not laid out
for the purpose intended, and was &
pleasure ground on paper only, as oa
this plan.

Front street west of Brock was in
1£37 known as “Ontario Terrace,” but
it, was even al that time called "“[vont

street” east to the Bast Markst
Square, where it became “Palace
street.”

At the east end of the plan “Mar-
ket street,” the modern Wellington
street, is shown, running to the east
line of Peter street. It did not run
through to Clarence square till many
years later. This square was laid
out in 1837.

Newgate street (Adelaide street) is
shown as running west toBroek street,
and from Brock west it is Adelaide
street to Niagara road (Niagara
streety. To-day Adelaide street ends
at St. Mary’s wchurch, at the plot
“granted for R. C. Church and Presby-
tery,” the rear of which is ealled Me-
Donell square. West of the plot, or
square, old. Adelaide street, later
known as Little Adelaide street, ran
to Niagara street, called in 1837
“Niagara road.” The street now
known as Defoe street, running to
Shaw street, was at one time called
Little Adelaide street.

Hospital street (Richmond street) is
shown running to the east line of |
Peter, as it does at the present time. |

Lot street (Queen street) is shown |
running west to Brock street when it
becime “Egremont street,” and west
of it the “turnpike” or toll gate that
stood at the junction of Niagara
road. Egremont street did not become |
Lot street, but when Lot street was
changed to Queen street, the change
included the entire street from the
extreme west limit to the Don River
on the east. :

The plot “granted to the city for a
market square” is Sit. Andrew’s mar-
ket square, and on the original plan
218—it is called the “west market.”

Bathurst street only ran to the
junction of Egremont and Lot (Queen)
street. North of these streets it was
a ‘“side line road.” At the foot of
Bathurst street is showa the “Gar-
rison,” and on another plan of the
section to the east is-shown a cirele

having the garrison for a centre and
a radius of 1,000 yards which just
reached Queen (then Lot street) on
tke north, and interseets Peter street I

at market (now Wellington) street.

Simcoe street ran as the first street
south of “Egremont street,” and west
from Brock street. It was later
changed to “Little Richmond street,”
and is now known as Farley avenue,
but still ends at Niagara street.

The present Simcoe street was ori-
ginally Graves street, named after
John Graves Simcoe, but in 1843 the
name Graves was abandoned and the
street was called “Simcoe.”

The “Victoria square, in which
churches may hereafter be erected,
but without grounds thereto,” and
the small plot in this square known
as the “Military Burial Ground” is
still extant, but beyond the burial
plot and the site of St. John’s (An-
glican ) church the rest of the plot
is occupied by private residences.

It will be observed that Niagara
street ran into Niagara road, which
ended at the turnpike road, leading
west to the present Dundas street,
and north and west through Brock-
ton to Hamilton and Niagara. It is
now known throughout its full Jength
as Niagara street. The turnpike stood

directly opposite the north end of
Niagara road as shown on plan.

On the bay front no wharves or
landing places are marked, except

the King’s Wharf, which was built
in 1834, three years previous to the
marking of this plan, running south
from the east side of the “Garrison.”
It was named the Queen’s Wharf
after the ascension of Queen Vic-
toria, 20th June, 1837.

King street is shown west of Brock
street (now Spadina avenue) as “King
street west.” On the original plan,
218, the portion east of Brock street
is called “King street east.”

To the west of Niagara road is
shown the Garrison ereek and ravine
with a military hospital on the east
bank. The hospital stood on the ecast
bank of the Garrison creek ravine at
a point about 475 feet south of King
street, and 330 feet west of Tecumseh
street, as|it existed at that time. The
south end of Tecumseh street was cut
off where the railroad ran through
the front of the town. The spot where
the hospital stood now forms part of
the right-of-way of the Great West-
ern Division of the G.T.R. and is im-
mediately south of the western cattle
market. According to a note on the
original plan, the west bank of
the ravine had not been surveyed at
that time.

Teecumseh street and Portland street
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ase shown in 1837 as they are to-day. ! Canada—Mr. Peter Russell. His park

Douro street, running west
Vietoria square, is now known as
Wellington avenue, and runs through
to Strachan avenue.

Stewart street still exists as in the
plan, but is not now the northern
boundary of Victoria square, as
Wellington avenue runs through to
the south of it and forms the pre-
sent northerly boundary.

CHAPTER XVI
YORK A CENTURY AGO.

A Plan of the Town of York West of
Toronto Street and East of Peter
Street, as in 1801.

This plan gives a “sketch of the
part of the town of York :west of
Toronto street and east of Peter
street,” in April, 1801. |

Toronto street (Victoria) is shown

on thc‘east. running north from Mar- | Simcoe, demolished in
ket (Wellington) street to Lot (Queen) | (Wellington)

street, with Peter street on the west,
Tonning north from Front street to
Lot (Queen) street, the
of the town was Lot street..

The west boundary of the “New
Town,” as it was then called, was
Poter street, and the east boundary
“Toronto street.”

The [irst Toronto street was intend-
ed to run east \ of Yonge from Lot
(Queen) street to Market (Welling-
tem) streety that-is @ prolongation of
th> presemt Victoria street.:

Viectoria street, however, was laid
out frcm Lot (Queem) street to New-
gate street (Adelaide) and swas at one
time called Upper George street.

Defore Lot (Queen) street was ex-
tended east of the present Viectoria
street, and before Yonge street was
prolonged to the bay, the road to the
market from the south emd of Yonge
street at T.ot (Queem) street was
cast to Upper George . (Victoria)
street, south to Newgate (Adelaide)
street, and pot further south to King,
but a hundred feet east on Newgate
(Adelaide) to the present » Toronto
street, and down King to the market.

The new Toromto street twas in-
tended to run north to Lot (Queen)
street through the site of the pre-
sent post office.

Peter street, om the mwest, was
mamed after: the President or Admin-
istrator of the Province of Upper

from | lot

1
|

north limit |

‘was at Petersfield, cn Queen
street, and comsisted in part of the
ground now occupied by the present
QCatharine street, up to Queen street,
including the residence of the late
Chief Justice McLean, at the head of
Catharime street, known before dts
demolitiom. as “Petersfield.” The
residence was built in 1820-1, by the
Hon. J. R. Dumn, Receiver-General of
the Province 1820-41, and was occu-
pied by him for jmany years.

This plan shows the first extension
of the Town of /York westward, with
Peter street as its west boundary,
while om the east \was the thorough-
fare them; known as ¢‘Toronto street,”
now Victoria street. '

The othern streets were Johm street,
Graves (Simcoe) street, both mamed
after Gov. John Graves Simcoe, with
York street and Bay street, all run-
ning north to Lot street.

The streets rumning east and west
were Fromt street, with “Simecoe
Square,” the site of the old Parlia-
ment Buildings, between John and
1903, Market
street, King street,
with Russell Square, bounded by King,
John, Graves (Simcoe) and Newgate
(Adelaide) street—Old Upper Canada
College grounds. ' ¥

Yonge street was not open south
of Lot (Queen) street, » so that
vehicles, as already stated, to reach
the market, turned east at Yonge by
Lot (Queen) street a few hundred
feet and drove down Upper George
(Victoria) street, which ran from Lot
(Queen) street to Newgale  (Ade-
laide) and then down the present To-
romto street to King. (

There was origimally a cut-off, as
shown inx the plan, at the north-west
corner of Front and Toronto streets,
which originally was intended to run
south to Market (Wellington) street.

The “survey was made by order of
the Surveyor-General’s office, bear-
ing date April 23rd, 4801,” by Mr.
Johm  Stegmann, a well-known
official and surveyor. )

John Stegmann was a .retired
officer inj a Hessian regiment. ]

At the request of d. W. Smith, Act-
ing Surveyor - General, Stegmann
made a report on the condition of
Yonge street. It was an elaborate re-
port. Im an account of himself, writ-
tem when he applied to the Surveyor-
General for a position on the pro-
vincial staff, he said :— i

“My name is Johm Stegmann, late
lieutenant in the Hessian Regiment
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of Tossberg, commanded by Major-
General de Loos, and served during
the whole war in America till the re-
duction took place in the month of
August, 1783, and by the favour and
indulgence of his Excellency, L.aord
Dorchester, I obtained land in this
new settlement and township of
Osnabruck, and an appointment as
surveyor in the province; I have a
wife and small family to provide for.”

There are descendants of Stegmann .

vet living in Vaughan, near Pine
Grove. The name originally had a
double “n,” but the final “n* is now
omitted.

In his report on Yonge street he is
very explicit and frank. He writes
“that the most ancient inhabitants of
Yonge street have been the most neg-
lectful in clearing the street.”

Stegmann designed the first bridge
across the Don, near Castle Frank,
and mado the drawings. There is a
letter of his extant in which he writes
to the Acting Surveyor-General, D.
W. Smith, in connection with the tim-
ber used for the bridge,

CHAPTER XVII.
ALL ABOUT LEGAL LIGHTS.

Review of Legal Battles Over the Right
to “Ancient Lights”—Early Cases
Recalled by a Suit Now in Court.
“We have had these windows just

where they are now for forty-five

years, and the law will not permit

their obstruction.”
“But we are building on our own

property.”
“That dozs not give you the right
to block our windows. They are

ancient lights and our right to light
exists for all time.”

“Rights to ancient lights have been
abo'ished,” says the other. *“You
can’t scare us. We are going to bhuild.”

“But we acquired the right before
that act was passed, and we’'ll see if
you will build or not ?2”

And straightway thc owner of the
“ancient lights” goes to court, gets
an injunction, and there is an end of
the building operations until the
court decides the case.

Toronto, since it has emerged from
Muddy York, has had many of these
disputes, but omnly a few have ever
reached the dignity of a law suit.
These are bhere rccalled by the
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latest of these cases, one of
interest to every owner of pro-
perty in Toronto, and of most

absorbing interest to the three par-
ties involved, the Scottish Ontario
and Manitoba Land Company, the
Guardian Assurance Company and
the railway magnates, Mackenzie &
Mann.

But it is of interest first to review
the earlier disputes. Case after case
of “you must not build against my
windows” have been decided miles out
of court for, upon the merest investi-
gation, the architect or lawyer, or
owner himself, has found that the
accursed windows were just where
they are long enough before 1880 to
give them structural immortality and
cannot, on pain of heavy damages, be
| blocked by even a million dollar pile,
{ though the aforesaid lights may be
c1n “a disgrace to the town.”

Such is the law. Windows which for
. 20 years before 1880 were unobstruct-
| ed acquired this lease of life and light
immortal. In 1880 that “iniguitous”
law was abolished. And just how it
’ was given its quictus it is interesting
to recall.
|  Chief Justice Sir Matthew Crooks
Cameron with “a bare bodkin®” in the
| shape of a bill in the Legislature, of

which he was then a shining “light,””

did the deed. And there is a little

legal history reciting how that came
| about. Sir Matthew, then plain “Mat,”
" had not long before emerged van-
quished from a legal duel with the

redoubtable Hon. Edward Blake. : ¢

Their clients in the forensic battle
were the Canada Permanent, repre-
| sented by the ihen leader of the Pro-
vincial bar, and Arthur B. Lec and
John Leys, of Rice Lewis & Son, re-
presented by Mr. Cameron and Al-
fred Hoskin, K. C. The struzgle was
brief. The Canada Permanent went to
Hon. S. H. Blake, then the Viee-Chan-
cellor, and said: We have a base-
ment that has been just where it now
is for over 20 years, and Rice Lewis
& Son are building an addition to
their warehouse which will cut off
our lizht. We want an injunction and
damages.”

“Prove that your window has been
there 20 years,” demanded Cameron.

The plans and deeds and affidavits
satisfied the Vice-Chancellor on
that, and this is the order he made:
18;§1igh Court of Justice, April 4,
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“This court doth order that an in-
junction be awarded to perpetually
restrain the defendants from erect-
ing any wall or building on the east-
ern houndary of their premises where
the same adjoins the wall of the
plaintiffs to a greater height than
thirty-three feet, at which height it
now stands, and from altering their
premises so as to darken, hinder or
obstruet the free access of light to
the plaintiffs’ buildings as such ae-
cess is now enjoyed by them. And it
appearing that the wall so far erect-
ed substantially obstructs the free
passage of light to the windows of
the plaintiff, this court orders that
the defendants forthwith pay to the
plaintiffs $500 damages and the costs.”

“It’s a blank injustice,” said Cam-
eron. “I shall have the law abolish-
ed.” And he did at the next session
of the Legislature.

So that since 1880 title to “ancient
lights” caanot be acquired. But the
law was not, of course, retroactive,
and so all “ancient lights” then ex-
isting still exist, and of these you
must “have a care,” or a wall may
cost you a pile of money in hopeless
litigation.

And a strange feature of this law

is that it still gives the right to “an-
cient lights” though the building is
remodelled or removed and a new one
erected, so Jong as the lights are
where the old ones were.
- I remember,” said a merchant yes-
terday, “a case in point. I was buy-
ing a piece of property on Yonge
street. The building next to my
lot was new, as I could easily sce
from the condition of the bricks.
assured mgyself there would be no
tronhle about ancient lights there.
But my lawyer had investigated.

“‘T have just seen plans,’ he =said,
‘which show that those windows in
that new wall are just where win-
dows were in the old and for over
the statutory period of twenty
years’.”

There was loss to one and a gain to
the other in the sale of the other
property. For aa angle of light must,
says the law, be such as will ‘“not
substantially diminish” the light in
the huilding which is entitled to that
right. Some say this is 45 degrees.
Others declare it iz left to the judg-
ment of the court.

There are buildings in Toronto with
sloping mansard roofs which give suf-
ticient light—acceptable at least to

I!court and to Dr. Grasett :

the owner of the building, who eould,
if he were “Shylock” enough, demand
all the court would give.

In England the ancient light law
has never been abolished.

“You will sez some curious results
there of the absurd law,” said Arch-
itect Frank Darling. “Some in parts
of London where land is measured by
the inch—where it has reached the
highest value in the world. I rem-
ember seeing one building there that
has had to sacrifice perhaps twenty
rooms to give the adjoining building
the legal amount of light. The rear
of that building from basement to
garret is like a giant stairway.”

In Scotland there never was right
to light acquired by lapse of time,
but only by express or implied grant.
These could not be obstructed there
any more than here.

The most noted case of this kind—
light by express or implied grant—in
the Canadian court is that of Carter
v. Grasett. The plaintiff, John Car-
ter, still a resident of this city, and
then in 1887 the organist of St. James’
Cathedral, had bougkt a house and
lot on the west side of Simcoe street,
above Queen, from a Mr. Pim. The
north wall of the house had three
windows overlooking a vacant lot
which Mr. Pim later sold to Dr.
Temple. He in turn sold the lot to
the late Rev. Dean Grasett, of St.
James’. Then it passed to his
son, Dr. Grasett, who proceeded to
build all too closs to Mr. Carter.
Straightway Mr. Carter sought an
injunction. For him the late D’Alton
McCarthy and George Bell said to the
“You can-
not obstruct our light. The man
who originally owned your lot sold
to us our lot, and we have an implied
if not an express grant of light over
your lot.” Through Christopher Rob-
inson the dector took ocecasion to dif-
fer, and to trial they went.

The late Chief Justice Galt and a
jury decided in favour of Mir. Carter.
Against this the doctor successfully
appealed to the Court of Common
Pleas., Then that decision was re-
versed by the Court of Appeal, two
of the four judges deciding that M,
Carter had an express grant of light
and two holding it was an implied
right—but i@ right to it he certainly
had. But the ocase had been compli-
cated by the question of the pay-
ment of 2 mortgage and the manner
in which thke jury had answsrea a
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question asked them by the judge, and
in justice to both parties the Court
of Appeal granted a new trial. But

a treaty of peace was signed on the
The |

morning of the second battle.
doctor bought Mr. Carter’s house.

Perhaps the best example of a case
of “ancient lights” is that of Scad-
ding v. Rogers, which after a legat
battle costing $1,000 was decided in
favour of Iusurance Agent I, A,
Scadding, or rather his wife, who was
then the owner of 321 Church sireet
That decision meant that Mr. Scad-
ding’s brother-in-law, James H. Rog-
ers, the hatter and furrier, now of
Winnipeg, had to leave a “well hole”
something like Len feet square at the
base and nearly twice that at the top
in crecting No. 323, to give light to

a window in the north wall of M. |

Scadding’s house. The houses join at
the street front, and no one would
suspect the existence of that well
hele in the south wall of 323, But
it had to be, according to the award
of an arbitrator to whom the case
was left. Both properties have since
change” hands.

There were twelve windows involved |

in the two suits brought against Mac-
kenzie & Mann, when they erected the
four-storey addition to the rear of
their <Canadian = Northern Railway
building at King and Toronto streets.
Eleven of these were “ anoient lights,”
and one a oase of ¢ express or implied
light,” which the Guardian Assurance
Co., as lessees of 55 King street, claim-
ed went with their lease from the
previous owners. The Scottish On-
tario and Mainitoba Land Co., as the
cwners of York Chambers, claimed
the eleven * ancient lights,” three on
the ground floor, four on the first,
and four on the second floors.

The right to these lights the own-
ers of York Chambers declared went
back to 1824, for part of this build-
ing is Toronto's second jail, erected
on this site in that year. It was a
little back from both streets. This
description of the building appears in
the first volume of Robertson’s Land-
marks:—

“It was a good, substantial, plain-
looking, two-storeyed red brick build-
ing. At that time, on the north side
of King street, stretching between
Toronto and Church streets, was a
vacant lot. At the west side of this
field, with gable fronting south about
thirty feet from Toronto street and
a little distance back from

King

1street, enclosed on three sides by a
. bicket fence fiftcen feet high, stood
the new prison, at what would now
be nearly the corner of Toronto and
. Court street. The jail was never
i torn down but was remodelled, and
now forms part of York Chambers,
erccted on its site.”

|
} The defence to this action was a
[

‘“general denial” that neither the loan
| company or the insurance company
!'had any right to the light they claim-
ed. But the case, which was to have
been one of the most interesting and
| important of its kind held in the
| courts for years, never reached the
i judge, never got beyond the filing of
the claims. It was amicably settled.

CHAPTER XVIII
OLD ST. MARKS,

The Old Anglican Church of the First
Capital of Upper Canada.

NIAGARA

On the west bank of the river, within
| a few hundred yards of the spot where
the Niagara steamers make their first
call on arrival from Toronto, and closa-
ly bordering upon the far-famed Niag-
ara Common, where stand the remains
of the celebrated ‘“Butler’s Barracks,”
is the historic church of St. Mark,
built in 1792. It would be hard to
find a more lovely situation or a
more picturesjue locality than that in
which is placed this “House of Prayer."’
By day and by night the murmur of
the river is heard as it fiows on to-
wards the lake. This, mingling with
the soughing of the wind through thse
branches of the many magnificent
trees which adorn the undnlating
| echurchyard, and the luxuriani foiiage,
whether the season is in summer or
| winter, combined together maks a
. most impressive scene. In the midst
| of this “God’s Acre,” is the old church,
| with its battlemented tower and
! ancient tablets affixed to the outer
| walls, while all around are scattered
the graves of those who lived, moved
and had their being in and near
Niagara during the last century.

Of the tombs in the churchyard there
are many which excite very great in-
terest. Perhaps the saddest and most

i affecting story of all is told Ly the
plot enclosing seven graves, in the
| midst of which is an obelisk sur-
wounted by a cross, telling of the
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death by the foundering of the yacht
Foam, of Niagara, on July 1lth,
1874, of seven young men. The
obelisk  bears this inscription :— '
“In affectionate remembrance of
Robert C. Henderson, J. H. Murray,
C. E. Anderson, Weir Anderson, Phil-
lips Braddoa, C. V. W. Vernon, Vin- !
cent H. Taylor, who were lost on 11th
July, 1874, by the foundering of the
yachi Foam.”

Clos2 to this tomb is the plot wherein
repose¢ the bodies of William Jolliffe
snd John Midgley, aged 20 and 21 re-
spectively, who died on July 17th, 1825, |
They belonged to the band of the 76th
Regiment, and their tombstone records
that they were ‘‘universally beloved
and regretted by their comrades.” Near
the last named grave is that of the |
Rev. James Beaven, D.D., who for
many years was the rector of St..
John’s church, Norway, near Toronto,
and also for many years a professor
in Toronto University. He died Nov-
ember 8th, 1875, “in the 75th year of
his age and 51st of his ministry.” Not
many yards distant from Dr. Beaven'’s
grave is a large altar tomb, which !
during the war of 1812 was used as
a butcher’s block bv the Government‘{

conlractors. The marks of the hatchet
are still plainly to be seen upon this!
tomb, part of the inscription engraved !
thereou being all but effaced by them. |
The inscription engraved is as follows:

“To the memory of Charles Morri-
son, a native of Scotland, who re-
sided many years at Michillimackinac,
as a merchant and magistrate, and’|
since the cession of that post, became
a British subject by election; for loy-
alty to his sovereign and integrity in
his dealings he was ever remarkable.
He died here on his way to Montreal,
on the 6th dsy of September, 1802,
aged 65 years.”

Close to the last named grave
is anoth®r altar tomb defaced
in the same way as is that of

Charles Morrison; it commemorates the
name of George Forsythe, who in his
long residence as a merchant and
magistrate in the town was beloved
for his mild manners and great worth;
died September 15th, 1806, aged 52
years.”

Near by this again is the grave of
“Jamz2s A. Harvey, late of the Ord-
nance Department, who died Novem-
ber 20th, 1862, aged 72 years.” On the
south-east wall of the church is a tab-
let with this inscription: ‘‘Sacred to
the memory of Captain Copeland Rad-
cliffe, of His Britannie Majesty’s Navy,

. There

' trumpeter

who fell while gallantly leading his
men to board on: of the enemy’s

- schooners at anchor off Fort Erie, on

the night of thz 12th August, 1814.”
is an additional inscription
which says the tablet was erected by
Captain Dobbs, R.N.

Another interesting temb in the old
churchyard is that “In memory of
John Ray, 50 years parish clerk of St.
Mark’s, who died at an advanced age
October 6th, 1846.”

A handsome gbelisk marks the spot
where reposes the body of the Rev.
Thomas Creen, who was rector of Nia-
gara from January 26th, 1836, until he
resigned from ill-health in 1856. Near
Mr. Creen’s tomb is that of the Rev.
Robert Addison, the first rector, who
died at Niagara, 6th October, 1829, aged
74. The tablet in memory of Mr. Addi-
son is on the north side of the outer
wall of the eastern transept. Close
to it are the tombs of several mem-

bers of the Connally and Rolph
families,
Another tomb toward the eastern

| edge of the churchyard is that “ Sacred

to the memory of Thomas Easton, late
H. M. Royal Artillery
Drivers, who departed this life TFeb-
ruary 24th, 1832, aged 56 years.”

“Here lies within this silent grave,
A Royal soldier, brisk and brave,
Who suddenly was snatched away
From off this sodden foot of clay.”

There are many other quaint epi-
taphs to be found in the churchyard
besides those already referred to. One
is in memory of a child who died

March 2nd, 1802, aged 4 years. It

reads:

“My time is short; the longer my
rest:

God called me hence, because He

thought it best,
So weep not: Drie up your tears:
Heare must i lie till Christ Apears.”

Anotker over the grave of parents
reads:

“Filial affection, stronger than the
grave,

From Time’s obliterating hand tosave,

Erects this humble monument of stones

Over a father’s and mother’s bones.”

The two following speak for them-
selves. What a wonderful person the
person referred to in the first one must
have been!

“ Here lies as much virtue as could
live.”
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The question asked in the next was
propounded long befors St. Mark’s
church was built:

“ Man’s life? What is it ¢ 'Tis a flower,
Looks fresh and dies within the hour.”

The following are also found in the
churchyard:

“Sacred to the memory of the two
infant children of Rev. R. U. Turney,
chaplain to H. B. Majesty’s forces, and
Jane, his wife.”

““Dear, as thou didst in modest worth

excel, .

More dear than in a daughter’s name,
farewell.

Farewell, dear Maria: But the hour
is nigh

When, if I’'m worthy, we shall meet on
high ;

Then shall I say, triumphant from the '
tomb, |

Come to thy mother’s arms, dear Maria, |
come.” &

Here is another:

“He’s gone! No more his infant
smile,
The smile of innocence, shall dart f
His power electric to expand
And warm a tender parent’s heart:

His lips which I kissed are faded and

cold,
His hands which I pressed are covered
with mould, {
His form which I clasped is crumbled
away,
And soon by his side his weepers shall
la.y.” |
The following, though not common
in Canada, is often found in England: |

“ The fairest flower which nature shows
Sustains the sharpest doom;
His life was like a morning rose
That withers in its bloom:
Weep not, mother, for John is at rest,
His sins forgot and in Heaven blest.”

This last one is found in many dif-
ferent versions:

“Ah, here they lie, as budding roses
Blasted before their bloom,

Whose innocence did sweets disclose
Beyond that flower’s perfume.”

In the parish records of St. Mark’s
ohurch there are many which,
like the tombstones spoken of
already, afford somewhat more than
mere fleeting interest. The first entry
in the book is on August the 23rd,
1792, and records the marriage of

“H>nry Warren to one Catharine
Agler.,” Who either of these partieg
were cannot now be ascertained, no
cluc is given as to where they lived,
and the names of no witnesses are ap-
pended to the record.

The very next entry is on August
the 24th, and it chronicles the mar-
riage of “Captain James Hhmilton,
and Louisa, his wife.,” To this entry
is added in the hand-writing of the
rector, Mr, Addison, the following
somewhat curious note: ‘'*‘They had
been married by some commanding
officer, or other magistrate, angd
thought it more decent to bhave the
office repeated.”

Close to this entry is this note, alse
apparently in Mr. Addeon’s hand-
writing: “It has been ascertained that
St. Mark’s church, Niagara, was built

| in 1792-3, Jburnt in 1812, during the war

by Americans, and rebuilt in 1815.”

In 1793, on January 24th, is recorded
the marriage of the well known *“Dr.
Robert Richardson, to Magdalene
Askin.” On July the 28th, in the same
year, “William Knott is recorded as
having espoused Eliza Huggarty.”
William Knott was a sepldier, or rather
had been a soldier, in the Queen’s
Rangers.

A very curious entry appears under
date February 5th, 1797, it reads thus:
“Married Moses and Phoebe, negro
slaves to Mr., Secretary Jarvis.”
Whether Moses and Phoebe possessed

| a surname, or where they lived before

or after their marriage, the records
do not tell us.

On December the 29th, 1797, is re-
corded the marriage of “Lieutenant
James Givins to Angelica Andrews.”
It is to be presumed that Mr. Addison

i performed the ceremony, but the mar-

riage register is entirely mute on
that subject. Lieutenant Givins here
referred to was the father of Judge
Givinsg, of London, Ontario, and of the
Rev. Saltern Givins, for so many
years the rector at St. Paul’s church,
Toronto, and grandfather of the well
known Robert Giving (now of Chicago,
1898). Lieutenant Givins was an of-
ficer in the Queen’s Rangers, subse-
quently did good service in the Cana-
dian Militia during the war of 1812,
afterwards became Indian Commis-
sioner, and died in Toronto several
years later, being interred in St.
Jamesg’ churchyard.

On April the 2nd, 1802, occurs the
marriage reg ster of “Andrew Heron
to Catharine McLeod.” Amdrew H=ron
left many descendants, and has many
relatives still living in Toronto.
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Another well known person is re-
ferred to on April 20th, 1810, namely
Mahlon Burwell, who was married to
Sarah Haun. Mr. Burwell was agreat
land owner on Lake Erie, and for
many years took a very prominent
part in public affairs.

Turning from the exterior of St.
Mark’s church to its interior.
Entering from the western door any-
ons acquainted with the country
churches of England would, upon first
entering, be very readily excused, if
for the moment, he thought himself
in some Old Country parish church. In
the vestibule are ancient tablets on
the walls; on both sides of the church
are fablets, both in marble and brass,
while stained glass windows of éxqui-
site design and rieh colouring tena to
add to the illusion that one is within
a church founded many centuries
since.

Close to the western door, the “north

end of the church,” as it has been else- ;

where described, i1s the memorial tab-
let of the first rector; it bears this in-
scription:

“In memory of the Rev. Robert Ad-
dison, first missionary 1n this district
of the Venerable Society for the Pro-
pagation of the Gospel in Foreign
PParts. He commenced his labours in
1792, which, by ths blessing of Divineg
Providence, he was enabled to continue
for 37 years. Besides his stated ser-
vices as a minister of St. Mark's, in
the town, he visited and officiated in
different parts of this and adjoining
districts until other missionaries ar-
rived.”

“Rernember them which have the rule
over you.”

Near by is a tablet in memory of
the second rector, the Rcv. Thomas
Creen, who died at Niagara, Jacuary
6th, 1864.

On the western wall of the interior
of the church is the marble tablet in
memory of
commander of a famous corps, “But-
Jer’'s Rangers.” The inscription on
Colonel Butler’s tablet is as follows:

“Fear God. Honour the King. In
Memory of Colonel Butler, His Majes-
ty’s Commissioner for Indian Affairs,
born in New London, Connecticut,
1728. His life was spent honourably
in the service of the Crown. In the
war with France for the conquest of
Canada, he was distinguished at the
lattle of Lake George, 8th September,
1755; at the siege of Forti Niagara and
its capitulation, 25th July, 1759. In
the war of 1776 he took up arms in de-

John Butler, the famous |

fence of the unity of the Empire, and
'I'd.lS{_%d and commanded the American
! Regiment of Buller’s Rangers. A sin-
' cere Christian, as well as a brave sol-
| dier, he was one of the founders and
! the first patron of this parish. He died
. at Niagara, May, 1796, and is interred
in the family Lurying ground, near this
town. Erected 1880.”

In the mnorthern transept of the
church, which i8 cruciform in
! shape, are tablets to the memory
| of members of the well-known
lKingsmill family, to Lieutenant-Col.

Elliott, of the “Royal Canadian Rifle

Regiment,” and other well-known peo-

ple. The church also contains a brass

tablet commemorating the centenary
of the church, which bears this inscrip.
i tion:—

“To the glory of God. This tablet
. is erected by the congregation of St.
! Mark’s church, in grateful commemora-
tion of the 100th anniversary of the
foundation of this parish, on the 9th
July, 1792. The nave of the church
| was built about 1807, and burned dur-
ing the war of 1812, the walls only re-
maining. It was restored 1820, and
enlarged to the present dimensions in
1843. During the century the living
has been held by the following incum-
bents:—The Rev. Robert Addison, 1792
to 1829; the Rev. Thomas Creen, 1829
to 1857; the Rev. Wm. McMurray, D.D.,
D.C.L., Archdeacon of Niagara, to
; the present time, assisted since 1828
i by the Rev. J. C. Garrett as curate
in charge.”

In the southern transept is the tab-
let recording the death of R. Dickson,
who died in Italy in November, 1846,
The same tablet refers to the death
i of Mrs. Dickson, his widaw.

The stained-glass windows in the
north transept are magnificent speci-
mens of art; they respectively repre-
sent Christ’s resurrection and His pre-
sentation in the Temple. They are in
memory of John Lees Alma and of
Mrs. Fell. ;

On the south side of the church is
another beautiful stained glass win-
dow to the memory of Archdeacon
MoMurray, who died May 19th, 1894,
aged 83 years. The subject is: " Be-
hold the Lamb of God.”

In the rorch of the western door is
a stone bearing the following inscrip-
I tion;—

“In memory of Captair M. McLelland,
aged 42 years; Charles Wright and
Wm. Cameron, in the 25th year of their
i age, of the First Regiment of Lincoln
militia, who gloriously fell on the 27th
‘ day of May, 1813; also Adjutant Lloyd.
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of the 8th (King’s) Regiment of In-
fantry. . -
“As livid lightnings dart their vivid

1gat, y:
So pour’d they fourth their fires in

bloody fight;
They bravely fell
country’s cause,

and saved their

They lov’d their Constitution, King
and Laws.”

The first entry of an inter-

ment in St. Mark’s churchyard

is dated August, 1792. The name

is not given. The register simply |

states, “A soldier in the Fort on the
otker side of the River.” On May 3l1st,
1793, was buried “Mrs. Catharine But-
ler, wife of Colonel Buatler.” On June
Jlch is the following painful entry—
“A sergeant of the 5th Regiment, shot
for desertion; he was attended for a'!
good while before he suffered; he be-
haved well.”

On September 9th, 1794, is recorded
the burial of “A soldier surfeited by
drinking cold water.”

On December 15th the following is
the quainl entry—“Mr. Burtlam, a
stranger, dropt down dead.”

On October 20th, 1793, was buried R.
B. Tickel, with this grim epitaph— .
“Alas, he was starv’d.”

On November 22nd of the same year
is enltered the interment of Colonel |
J. Smith, of the 5th Regiment.

On May 15th, 1796, is the following '
entry, ‘“Colonel John Butler, of the
Rangers.” In brackets is this simple
note by Mr. Addison, “My Patron.”
Subsequently Archdeacon MecMurray
added this further note, “Born New
London, Connecticut; baptised 28th
April, 1728; W. McMurray, Rector.”

On October 28th, 1801, is the follow-
ing curious entry—‘“Poor Old Trumper,
Captain Filkington’s gardiner.”

In the following year, on April
29th, occurs this entry, *“Cut
Nose Johnson, a Mohawk chief.” On
March the 8th, 1803, was buried Captain
Daniel Servos, who has many descend-
ants now living in and near Niagara.
Qn August 10th, 1804, is the simple
entry of burial “Indian Chief.”

On September 26th, in the same
year was buried Colonel Peter Ten
Broeck, and on April 15th, 1807, is cn-
tered the burial of Captain Stephen-
son, formerly of the Queen’s Rangers.

On September 26th, 1803, Mr. Addi-
son records buried “Captain D. Cowan,
Commander of the Camden, Lake
Erie.” On January 3l1st, 1810, is the
following: “The Master Tailor of the
100th Regiment. Killed by lightning.”
. In the latter part of the year 1812
is chronicled the death of General

Brock and his A.D.C., Colonel McDon-
nell. The actual entry reads as fol-
lows:—

“October 16th, 1812, General Sirlsaac
Brock, Colonel John McDonald.” The
name here is spelled incorrectly, but it
is given as entered. “They fell to-
gether at Queenston and they were
buried together at the north-east bas-
tion,” Fort George.

On December 3rd, in the same year,
is recorded the death of ‘ Donald
Campbell, Fort Major.”

A curious entry occurs here in the
register (apparently in Mr. Addison’s
handwriting) reading thus:—

“The Mohawk Chief, ‘Captain Nor-
ton,’ was married to his wife Catha-
rine, ‘I think,” on 27th July, when sha
was baptized, and Jacob Johnson, an-
other Mohawk Chief, was married to
his wife Mary, on 2lst August, this
{Seasr.” The year spoken of would he

13.

On July 17th, 1813, is entered the
death of “Colonel C. Bishop, who died
of his wounds.”

Colonel Bishop was not buried at
Niagara, but at Lunly’'s Lane; very
probably Mr. Addison read the burial
service over his remains. Close to this

| last entry in the parish records is this

one:

“On the day in which the engage-
ment between Sir James Yeo and Com-
modore Chauncy took place on the lake,
our dear friend Mrs. McNabb was bur-
ied in Mr. Servos’ burying ground, 29th
September, 1813.”

There is a little confusion here in
dates. as the famous naval engagement
here referred to, took place on the
28th and not on the 29th September,
1813.

Among later entries is that under
date 10th June, 1816, buried ‘“George
Lawe, Esq., Usher of the Black Rod.”
Later on occurs this one, ‘“Buried,
1819, James Rogers, innkeeper.” Mr.
Addison adds, “And a had profession
for any but very sober men.”

On December 23rd, 1822, ocecurs the
burial of “Poor Old Hope.”

In the century and more which has
elapsed since the foundation of St.
Mark’s church, there have heen lut
four rectors, first the Rev. Robert Ad-
dison from 1792 until 1829, He was
succeeded by Mr. Creen who previous-
ly had been assistant minister since
1826, he subsequently became rector
and resigned in 1856. He was follow-
ed by Archdeacon McMurray who re-
signed the rectory in 1892, and was
succeeded by the present rector the
Rev J. C. Garrett.
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CHAPTER XIX.
THE HOLLAND LANDING ANCHOR

Varying Accounts of the Strange Relic
of the War of 1812 That Never
Reached Its Destination.

Well in the north of York County,
ihirty iuiles above Toronto, and far

from water navigable for much
more than a rowboat, lies a buge
apchor. The little driving park and

picnic ground a mile or more from

the old village of Holland Landing, !

oa the
location of this stranded monster of
the deep.

Hotland Ruver, 1s the exact |

Monster it may well be called, for |

of Lake Ontario boats not one vessel
is large enoush to require an anchor
of ihe size for all the increased ton-
nage of the twentieth eentury. The
anchors of the thousand-ton sehooner
Stuart H. Dunn. of Toronto, the
largest sailing vessel on the lower
lakes, are scaree half the size Six-
teen feet long in its shank, ten feat
across from tip to tip of its great
flukes, is this patriarch of anchors,
with a ring in the head of it thirty
inches in diameter. The weight is in
keeping with its enormous size. Amid
tha multitude of initials that have
been cul into thz anchor by cuariosity
hunters have been deciphered the
figures 35-3-0 and the letters “Chatmn
Repd.”” The last are said to be the
official stamp of the Chatharw, Eng-
land, navy yaird, and the figures in-
dicate th2 weight in hundredweights,
quarters and pounds, amounting to
very nearly two tons.

To understand anchor lore it is ne-
cessary to remember that the points
which grip the bottom are flukes,
taking their name from their re-
semblance, in a way, to the flukes
in a fish’s tail. The body, or trunk,
or stem of the anchor is a shank.
From the shank at the bottom branch
out two arms with the flukes at the
ends. The point of the juncture of
the arms is the crown. The ring is
in the opposite end of the shank. To
it the ehain or cable is fastened. Just
below the ring the stock runs across
the shank. The stock may be of iron
or wood, but it is as long as the
shank, and the purpose it serves is
to make the anchor lie on the bot-
tom in such a way that the flukes
get a grip. This is accomplished by

having the stock set on the shank at
right angles to the direction of the
arms.

And now we’re under weigh. The
big anchor at Holland Landing is an-
cient for the following reasons—

The arms, instead of being curved,
as has been the style for scores of
years, are straight, forming an ob-
tuse angle at the crown.

The ring is not set in like a clevis,
in modern fashion, with a clevis bolt
running through, but simply passes
through a hole in the bead of the
shank, being welded after being ship-

The anchor has been intended for
a wooden stock,

Modern anchors have a round iron
running through the shank, near the
head, for a stock. The stocks of old
anchors were made of heavy pieces
of wood, panded together with iron
bands and tapering towards the ends.
There is no stock to the Holland
Landing anchor. The original one
has either rolled away or was never
shipped. Where the anchor lies
now a log is in the place the stock
would occupy, but it is merely a log.

The Holland Landimg anchor is of
these dimensions :—

Shank, 16 feet long.

Arms, 10 feet from tip to tip of
flukes.

Ring, 30 inches in diameter.

How and why came that monster
anchor there all the way from Chat-
ham, England ¢ To answer the quss-
tion with exactness is far from easy.
The anchor dates from that glorioas
period in comparatively early Cana-
dian history, the war of 1212, aadjthe
mists of forgetfulness are already
thickening around the memory of
many of the details of that historic
time.

S8peaking without special regard for
detail, it may be gaid that the
anchor was forged in Kngland and
ghipped to Canada for a war vessel
that was being built on the Upper
TLakes, and that it was abandoned at
Holland Landing on its way overlund
to Georgian Bay. Its bistory since
that event is more definite, but the
stories of its earlier carcer are some-
what divergent in detail. This is not
remarkable. Eye-witnesses of the
most commonplace event seldom cor-
roborate one another irn every par-
ticular; and at this date, nearly a
century after the forging of the
anchor, it is not surprising that ac-
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counls of it sbould vary, especially
as many of them arec not relations
at first band.

Mr. John McKay, of 702 Ontario
strect, Toronto. says Joseph Hewett,
of Newmarket, conveyed the anchor
to Folland Landing in 1812. Mr. Mc-
Kay is a monogenerian. He remem-
bers secing the anchor in 1834 on the
farm of Jobn Mackenzie, at Iolland
Landing, near the river. This was on
the occasion of the election of Samual
Lount, who was afterwards hanged for
bis perticipation in the rebellion of
1837. The voting was at Holland Land-
ing for the distriet, and lasted a
week Mr. MecKay was told by Joseph
Hewett himself of the journey over-
land of th: anchor; how, after being
shipped froem Scotland to Montreal,
and being brought by water to To-
ronto, loaded on a sleigh and dragged
up Yonge street by three yoke of
oxen. The anchor, Mr. McKay says,
was destined for a war vessel being
built at Nottawasaga Bay, but was
left at a depot at Holland Landing
on acccrmnt of a turn in the war ren-
dering it unnecessdry.

Mr. McKay lived from 1820 to 1870
in West Gwillimbury and Bradford.
Abocut thirty years ago, presumably
in 1873, he became possessor of the
anchor. He made enquiries as to its
ownership, but the Government could
tell him nothing, and he was advised
to make terms with the man on whose
property the great mass of metal lay.
This he did, securing the anchor for
a trifle, and set about removing his
purchase, intending to take it to To-
rento. But the people of Holland
T.anding, valuing it asa relic, raised
objections and bought it back, re-
moving it to its resting placein the
Holland Landing park. This is near
the place where once stood the old
Jesuit fort, of which Parkman speaks.

Rev. D. A. B. Stoddart, of Morden,
Man., a former resident of the vi-
cinity of the anchor, gives this ac-
count :—

“In the winter of 1814-5 a British
man-o’-war was in course of construc-
tion at Penetang, and supplies were
being brought from England. The
anctior in guestion and other maierial
ware being taken uwp from Turonto in
the month of March. The trip wus to
have been made across Lake Simece,
but the ice not being safe the anchor
was left near where it now lies. In
spring peace was declared, which put

'a_ stop to the construction of war-
like vessels. Mr. Stoddart’s authority
was the late Mr. Isaac Rogers, of
East Gwillimbury, who was one of
the party who were bringing the sup-
plies from Ticronto.”

Dr. Nathaniel Pearson, of 60 Col-
lege street, whose grandparents were
the first, or among the first, settlers
north of Oak Ridges, says:

“I am quite certain that the anchor
did not come in 1812, for my father
was born in that year, and he told
me it did not appear until 1818. The
British Government undertcok to
" build a seventy-two-gun frigate, or
frigates, at Penetanguishene, for the
upper lakes, and ordnance and other
munitions of war were taken up
Yonge street to what was known as
the Lower Landing, about three miles
from Holland Landing. The heavy
guns could not be transported along
the other route, and my father often
saw the oxen toiling along, dragging
the ordnance to its destination. It
was during the construction of the
frigate that the anchor came upon
the scene. My father thought eigh-
teen yoke of oxen were required to
haul it, but he was only six yecars
ald at the time and might have been
mistaken in recalling the number,
At all events, many oxen were used,
and he remembered quite clearly that
tackle was utilized in descending
steep hills.

“Holland Landing was a military
post, and from there boats were Joad-
ed for the trip across Lake Simcce
to Orillia, and, via the Severn, to
Coldwater and Penetanguishene. The
anchor did not make the veyage, for
the shipbuilding at Penctanguishene
ceased, and the military post at the
Iower Landing was abandoned, as
were the anchor, many cannon balls,
the barracks, and batteaux. The lat-
ter were very large, thirty feet long,
and were used in conveying the guns
to Penetanguishene. Five years ago,
during a dry season, W. Ti. Thern
saw the partly submerged batteaux,
and I am told that even to-day there
are cannon in the bay at that peint.
Some of the cannon were taken to

Toronto. At least, Joe Kirby, aged
90, who still lives at the Landing,
tells me that the military authori-

ties began to remove the batteries.
Kirby carried the mails from the
Landing, and, possibly, to Penetan-
guishene. He is one of those who say
that the bay contains a number of
those puns.”
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James W. Barry gives this version ;
This unwieldly mass, for such it
is, was fonrged entirely by trip ham-
mer in the Chatham, England, ship-
yard about the beg'mning of the last
century, agd was brought to Quebec
by sailing " vessel, the voyage then
probably occupying eight or 10 weeks.

From the Ancient Capital it was

conveyed, partly by land and raft, to

what was then known as “Muddy
York,” but now the great city of To-

ronto. arriving on the day Gen. Sir
Isaac Brock, commander of the
Canadian forces, met his death at

the Battle of Queenston Heights by
a bullet fired from the rifle of an
American sharpshooter. Lying where
it had been landed for many months,
the British naval authorities decided
to gend up the anchor to an import-
ant fort on the Georgian Bay, close
tc where the town of Penetanguishene
now stands, to be used on board a
75-ton gunmboat there bzing construct-
ed. The journey was northward by
Yonze street, then nothing more than
a rough trail through the bush to
the southern part of General Simcoe’s
lake (now Lake Simcoz) then north-
ward to Georgian Bay via the Severn
river.

The monster was lashed upon what
would be known to-day, especially
among juveniles, as a large catapult
crutch, the flukes resting on cither
side, while the heavy ring was fasten-
ed ‘on the butt. The whole, when
completed, formed a big wedge,
enabling it to pass easily through the
thick underbrush, and was drawn by
four and twenty yoke of oxen.

When any of the numerous steep
hills were encountered the anchor
was lowered down gradually by block
and tackle. Traversing 30 miles of
the trail in four days, the edge of
the Holland River marsh, better
known now as Soldier’s ' Bay, was
reached. Here was situated a Hud-
son Bay Company’s trading post, and
used also by the authorities for pay-
ing off and making presents to the
Indians of that district. The build-
ing of a very large “batteau,” fo be
used in ascending Lake Simcoe, was
then commenced, but owing to the
meagre whip-sawing timber, consid-
erable time was wasted, and before
the vessel was completed, portions of
which may still be seen, but now high
and dry, by the treaty of Ghent, the
long, cruel and bloody war came to
an end, and so the anchor was left

to the mercies of the soft, yielding,
marshy soil for (J long years, becom-
ing almost completely obscured from
view in that time. h
! . After the discrepancies =~ of date
have been reconciled, the purpose for
which the anclhior was forged still re-
| mains a mystery. A ‘“seventy-two
I gun frigate” might possibly utilize
such an enormous anchor, but the
difference between a craft of that
! size and a ‘“seventy-five ton gun
boat” is as great comparatively as the
difference between a ferryboat and a
big lake steamer. Judged by the
tonnage of the war vessels in com-
mission in the peried, the seventy-five
ton gunboat” seems more likely to be
the vessel intended to be built at
| Penetanguishene or Nottawasaga ;
j but on the other : hand, no one in
their senses would think of providing
such an enormous anchor for a craft
of seventy-five tons.

Port Credit people tell a story of
the anchor being discovered, or re-
!discovered., in 1837, by one Abraham
Block, a salt water sailor, who had
just decided to seek his fortune in
Ontario.
| Block was attached to a surveying
| party, and missed the trail onec day.

“Shiver my timbers!” exclaimed he,
slashing his way through the under-
growth, “if that old root don’t look
like an anchor-arm I'm a land lub-
ber.”

? Before him, in the gloom of the
iwo-ods. lay a curious object, moss
:grown. covered with lichens, yet

wonderfully like an anchor withal.

‘ “Wonder how she’ll chop up? said
 Block to himself, and down came his
| axe.
| “Clink!” rang the metal and a
spark flew. ‘

! "Block was thunderstruck. The case
{ had presented itself to him as aroot
| or log looking like an anchor ; not an
ianchor looking like a root or log.
i He scraped off the moss, and there
sure enough, was revealed the rusted
iron mass of a huge anchor.

" Block found his way back to the
camp and told the boys. They
! laughed at him, but his moss-covered
discovery was too heavy to be spirit-
led away, and it was there when he
i led them back to prove his story.
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CHAPTER XX.
FIRST EXHIBITION OPENED

In Government House Gardens in this
City—Its History and Development
—The First “Industrial’’ in 1879.

Once more it is for Toronto “ Exhi-
bition time,” a period hailed with de-
light by the younger generation, the
great show, with its divers attrac-
tions, being for them a perfect car-
nival of enjoyment.

To the old folks, too, Exhibition
time has many, many things to re-
commend it, for it, like Thanksgiving
day across the border, is 2 time when
the absent members of the family
come back to wvisit their parents,
friends and scenes of their youth.

in fact in the same grounds as sur-
rounds the present residence on King
street west. Only the buildings have
been changed since then, and in those
which were then existing was ex.
temporized a pavilion, where some of
the roots, fruit and lighter exhibits
were placed. The total number of en-
tries was 1,150, while the value of the
prizes awarded was but $1,100.

This the first Exhibition, as all
subsequent ones which took place,
was inaugurated by and held
under the auspices of the Provineial
Agricultural Association of TUpper
Canada. This association changed
its name some thirty. years later to
that of the Agricultural and Arts
Assorciation.

In the evening of October 2ist a
banquet was held in Government
House, at which some two hundred

The elder men (and women too) are | people were present, Chief Justice
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THE OLD CRYSTAL PALACE, ERECTED 1838,

fond of recounting their recollections
of earlier Exhibitions, cheerfully ad-
mitted to be on a much smaller scale
though than this of 1904, and the
grandfatber never fails to find an
appreciative audience when he re-
counts his reminiscences of the first
Provincial, held in 1846, fifty-eight
years ago, “ when he was a boy at
school.”

Of course, year by year, the num-
ber of those who were present at
the first of these Exhibitions is di-
minishing, yet evem in Toronto there
are a good many people still living
whose memories easily carry them
'back to 1846, whem on October 2ist
and 22nd the first Provincial Exhi-
bition was held in Toronto, in the
grounds of the old Government House,

FIRST PERMANENT EXHIBITION BUILDING.

Robinson being the principal speaker,
and “ they all felt gay,” for the debut
of the Provincial Exhibition was a
pronounced success.

The managers of the new undertak-
ing had decided that the annual show
should be held each year in 2 different
town, or, rather, should not be held
for two years successively in the same
town. Accordingly Hamilton, a place
in 1846 of barely 10,000 inhabitants,
was selected for the Exhibition of
1847. It took place on October 6th and
7th, and was graced by the presence
of the them Governor-General, Lord
Elgin.

The amount awarded in prizes was
$2,400, there being 600 entries, a large
increase in both, and every one, or
‘nearly every one was happy.
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In 1848 Cobourg was the place of
meeting, the prize list being $2,300,
a slight
year, a circumstance which did not
daunt the managers in the least, for
there was no diminution of conse-
quence in the number of entries which
were 1,500, while the quality of the
exhibits, especially in live stock, was
more than maintained.

In 1849, 1850 and 1851, the exhibi-
tion was held in Kingston, Niagara
and Brockville respectively, the en-
tries and prizes being:—

was again

Exhibition
lreld in Toronto, and was an unquali-

In 1852 the

fied success, the entries more than

decrease on the preceding,
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PIRGAL London 2,933 5,427.50
' 1835... ...Cobourg 3,077 6,941.70
1856... ... Kingston 3,791 6,799.50
1857... ... Brantford 4,337 8,186.00

As will be seen, the “Fair,” for so
it was generally described, had not
only made steady progress, but there
was every prospect of a still more
successful future.

After the Exhibition of 1857 in
Brantford, it was decided by the
Provincial Agricultural Association
that the Exhibition should thereafter
be held alternately in the following
cities, namely ,Toronto, Xingston,
Hamilton and London, they being re-
garded as well situated in the east-
ern, weastern and north-western por-
tions of the province to suit the
convenience in turn of all exhibitors.
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doubling those of the preceding year, In accordance with this idea To-

while the prizes offered were $1,700
greater.

It took place on September 21st,
22nd, 23rd and 24th, in “the fields
which then cxisted north of Simcoe
street, at that time above Queen,
known as William street.” The Pres-
byterian church near Simcoe sireet
stands almo:t on the spot where the
principal entrance to the fair grounds
was. The amount of prizes in 1852
was $4,913, the number of entries be-
ing 3,048.

From the years 1853 until 1857 the
Exhibitions were held as follows—

Year. Cities. Entries. Prizes.
IR53... ... Hamilton 2,820 $5,293.25

ronto was chosen for the Exhibition
af 1858, and what was known as the
Crystal Palace, erected for the hous-
ing of exhibits other than live stock
or heavy agricultural implements.

The Crystat Palace was on the
grounds (then a portion of the Gar-
rison Common) to the immediate
south of the Lunatic Asylum, the
centre of the “Pulace” being in exact
line with the dome of the asylum.
The corner stone of the building
was laid July 15th, 1858, by the Hon.
P. M. Vankoughnet, Minister of Agri-
culture.

The Exhibition was opened in the
last week in Sep:ember, 1858, by his
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Excellercy the Governor-General, Sir
Edmund Walker Head, with very con-
siderable pomp. It remained open for
two weeks. this lengthened time
being a great innovation on the es-
tablished order of things.

For the twenty years succeeding
1858 the exhibitions were held in the |
usual rotation, excepting in 1875,

The Exhibition of 1860 is noted for
the fact that it was honoured by a
visit on September 17th from H. R.
H. the Prince of Wales, his present
Majesty, King Edward VII., who was
then making his celebrated Canadian
tour. In 1862, when the Exhibition
was again in Toronto, it was opened
by H. E. Lord Monck, the then Gov-

when the city of Ottawa was chosen  ernor-General.

as the place of meeting instead of
Kingston. The following is

parative statement for that period—

Year. City. Entries. Prizes.
1859 ... ... Kingston 4,830 § 8,067.50
1860 ... ..Hamilton 7,532 12,900.00 !
] b London 6,242 10,188.50
1862 .. .. Toronto 6,319 10,722.00
18685...! .. Kingston 4,756 9,166.00

a com-~ '

An incident in the history of the
function of 1866 was that the regu-
lar Imperial troops, then stationed in
Toronto, were admitted as visitors
“in squads or companies of not more
than 100 men at a time.”

Lord Lisgar, who succeeded Lord
Monck as Governor-General, was pre-
sent at the Exhibition of 1871 in
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THE INDUSTRIAL BUILDING OF 1879.
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1864 . Hamilton 6,392 10,304.25
e 2l 11,086.75
6,279  10,288.50
4,825 9,311.50
6,620 11,120.00
7,649 12,444.70
. 6,897 12,289.50
Kingston 6,682 13,008.00
L3280 ... Hamilton 7,714 13,142.00
1873 ... ... London 8,920 13,797.00
1874 e, ... Toronto 8,162 14,070.00
1875 ..Ottawa 7318 14,651.00
(TR Hamilton 10,011 15,631.50
BT .. London 10,618 14,387.00
LB78N:. ... Toronto 1915255 13,980.00

These figures speak for themselves
and do not call for any special com-

Kingston, and was heartily received,
making a very pleasant speech.

In 1878, which was, so far as this
city is concerned, the last year of the
Provineial Exhibition, Lord Dufferin
was present and from the plat(orm in
the grounds delivered his valedictory
address to the people of Canada, it
containing this famous senteuce, dft-
times since quoted, “Love your coun-
try. believe in her, honour her, work
for her, live for her, die for her.”

“The reason why I cannot tell.”
quotling the old rhyme, but the fact
remains that though the Exhibition
of 1878 was held in Toronto, the peo-
ple of this city were by no means sat-
isfied. They thought that as the capi-

ment.

tal of the province they ought not to
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